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Friday, November 7, 2008

--- On commencing at 9:32 a.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

The Board is sitting today in connection with an application filed on September 15th, 2008 from Westcoast Energy Inc. and Union Gas Limited pursuant to Section 43(2) of the Ontario Energy Board Act.  That application seeks leave of the Board to allow Union to transfer interest in Union Gas Limited from Westcoast Energy to a new limited partnership to be organized subsequently.

The Board has issued two procedural matters in this matter, the first dated October 15th, the second dated October 29th.  The October 29th established today as the date for the oral hearing with respect to this matter.  The October 15th procedural order granted the intervenor status to four parties, the School Energy Coalition, the City of Kitchener, the Consumers Council of Canada and the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters Association.  

The Board was advised on November 6th by Messrs, Weir and Foulds, on behalf of the Consumers Council, that they would be taking no position.  On the same date, the Board received a letter from Macleod Dixon on behalf of IGUA, the Industrial Gas Users Association.  They are not an intervenor, but they have filed comments pursuant to 
Rule 24, which I presume we will put in the record.

May we have the appearances, please?
Appearances:

MR. PENNY:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  My name is Michael Penny.  I am counsel for the applicant.  With me is Mark Kitchen, and the witnesses we have available today are Mr. Dennis Hebert and Mr. Mike Packer.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Jay Shepherd on behalf of the School Energy Coalition.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson, Mr. Chairman, for the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson.

MR. RYDER:  Yes.  Alick Ryder for the City of Kitchener, and Mr. Gruenbauer is here with me from the City of Kitchener.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MS. COCHRANE:  Ljuba Cochrane, Board counsel.  

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. TEPER:  Wilfred Teper, Staff.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Any preliminary matters?

MS. COCHRANE:  No, Mr. Chair.  You covered off those two letters we received late yesterday, so we're ready to proceed. 

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Mr. Penny.

MR. PENNY:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Just very briefly, as you have noted, this is an application for leave to transfer Westcoast's interest in Union Gas to a wholly-owned limited partnership to be organized.  We are going, in effect, back to a structure more like that that was in place before 2002.

The evidence is clear, in my submission, there is no de facto change of control.  Westcoast will still be the Canadian holding company that owns and controls the Canadian assets, including Union Gas, and Spectra Energy will still own Westcoast.  So there is no fundamental change there.

The issue for the Board, in my submission, is simply whether Union or its customers will be adversely affected by the internal reorganization, and, perhaps a subset of that, whether any Union asset or benefit will be -- that would be otherwise available to Union or the customers would be appropriate to the parent as a result of the internal reorganization.  And that, in my submission, is the sole issue, and the evidence will show, in my submission clearly and unambiguously, there is no adverse impact and there is no asset or benefit being taken away.

The question is simple.  The answer is clear and unambiguous, and, in my submission, there could not be a clearer case for the OEB to grant leave under Section 43(2).

So with that, let me introduce our witnesses, but perhaps they could be -- could come forward and be sworn.

MR. KAISER:  You know, I have never done this.
UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 1

Michael Packer, Sworn


Dennis Hebert, Sworn

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Penny:

MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Hebert, let me start with you.  You're the general manager Canadian taxes with Union Gas?

MR. HEBERT:  I am.

MR. PENNY:  And you have, I understand, held positions related to taxation services with Union Gas since August of 2002?

MR. HEBERT:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  You have been involved in -- as a tax specialist for various businesses since, it looks like, 1987?

MR. HEBERT:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  And before that, you were a staff accountant with Coopers & Lybrand?  

MR. HEBERT:  That's right.

MR. PENNY:  You, I understand, have a bachelor of commerce from the University of Saskatchewan?

MR. HEBERT:  I do.

MR. PENNY:  And you're a chartered accountant?

MR. HEBERT:  I am.

MR. PENNY:  You have testified before this Board in EB-2005-0520 and RP-2003-0063 on tax-related matters?

MR. HEBERT:  I have.

MR. PENNY:  Do you adopt the evidence that has been filed in this proceeding?

MR. HEBERT:  I do.

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Packer, this is your first appearance before the Board in your new role.  You are currently director of planning and forecasting in the finance group at Union Gas?

MR. PACKER:  That is correct.

MR. PENNY:  And before that, you held a variety of positions dating back to 1988 in both regulatory affairs and rates?

MR. PACKER:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  You have -- you are a certified investment manager?

MR. PACKER:  Yes.

MR. PENNY:  A certified management accountant?

MR. PACKER:  Yes.

MR. PENNY:  And you have an honours BA in business administration from Wilfred Laurier University?

MR. PACKER:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  You have testified before this Board on rate-related matters on many occasions.  I won't list them all, but at least -- on at least a dozen occasions?

MR. PACKER:  That's correct, yes.

MR. PENNY:  All right.  Thank you.  Do you adopt the evidence that's been filed in this proceeding?

MR. PACKER:  I do.

MR. PENNY:  Well, Mr. Chairman, as I have said, the issue is very simple and straightforward.  The evidence is not long, and so I was not proposing to conduct any further examination-in-chief.  So the witnesses are available to my friends.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think Mr. Thompson will precede me.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I don't have too many questions, panel, but if you wouldn't mind turning up Exhibit D.7, this is an answer to an interrogatory from Mr. Shepherd's client.

Attached to that is -- the first document is a memo to the board of directors of Union of September 5, 2008.  It's from Mr. Bernardi, director of legal affairs.  If you go to page 2 of that document, you will see in the third last paragraph that it says as follows:
"US tax savings of an estimated $50 million will be realized by measuring future earnings at the Union Holding LP level rather than the Union Gas and controlling the timing of distributions from Union Holding LP to WEI."

Can I draw from that that the primary driver for this application is that benefit -- the achievement of that benefit?

MR. HEBERT:  There are two benefits.  One is this benefit and the fact that on future distributions from Canada to the parent company, there is also the ability to avoid double taxation.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Just so I understand the $50 million, there's another interrogatory response, and it's at C.2, addendum.  This was provided yesterday.

It was a follow-up to some questions we had.  Is the $50 million -- I am looking at page 2 of this document at the bottom, where the $50 million appears to be related to a goodwill premium over book value, based on the purchase of WEI; is that right?

MR. HEBERT:  That is the primary driver of that benefit, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  So do I correctly conclude from the language of the D.7 memorandum -- the phrase "will be realized", 50 million will be realized -- that there is nothing contingent about this?  It will be realized, that saving?

MR. HEBERT:  Over many years; that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thanks.  Now, in terms of the timing of this application, if you again go back to D.7 and you go into the second document, which is -- it says "Current simplified structure" and so on, and about halfway through, there's a document entitled:  "UGL conversion step plan."  Maybe it's not quite halfway through, but it's eight or ten pages in.

Do you find that, the cover sheet?

MR. HEBERT:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  I think it's the one dated August 30th, 2007.

MR. HEBERT:  I have that, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  The top right-hand corner, it seems to be dated August 28th, 2007, and then on the cover sheet it is August 30, 2007.

Was this document created in August of 2007?

MR. HEBERT:  It was.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Can you help us just generally with when the planning of this particular transaction started?  It must have started before August of 2007, and I am interested how much -- how many months prior to that would it likely have started?

MR. HEBERT:  Well, the planning, because this is --really all relates to US tax, this is something what would have been undertaken by our parent company, and as they look at their various operations there are tax planning opportunities.

And when they identified this double taxation issue, then they spoke to me on Canadian tax matters and said, you know:  Can we go through some restructuring in Canada that would help them in the US?

And that's when I would have put this memo together on the Canadian tax issues.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So would it be fair to say this started sometime in early 2007, or was it before that?

MR. HEBERT:  No, that's a fair comment; early 2007.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, thanks.

And in terms of the timing of this application to the Board, am I correct that the driving date for this application is the January 1, 2009 date, which as I understand it, is the only -- is your opportunity to redeem these pref shares.

MR. HEBERT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  So you need the approval that you are seeking, I think it is by some date this month, in order to achieve that deadline date, notice date; is that right?

MR. HEBERT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, thanks.

Now, in terms of the -- of the implications of this application for the cost of service, there is a response to an interrogatory from, I think it is Board Staff, if I am not mistaken, that says the conversion of pref to debt will reduce cost of service by about $1.3 million per year, commencing in 2009; is that right?

MR. HEBERT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  I think it is Exhibit B.2 where we see that number; is that correct?

MR. PACKER:  We have it, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Can I take it, though, that that's sort of an incidental impact of this?  That's not driving the application?

MR. HEBERT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let's move on, then.

In terms of the nature of this application, its purpose is, as I understand it, to change the utility ownership structure in substance; is that right?

MR. HEBERT:  That is correct, from being directly owned by Westcoast to indirectly owned by Westcoast.

MR. THOMPSON:  So it's a change in the -- would you agree it's a change to the utility ownership base that's proposed in year 1 of a five-year incentive regulation plan?  Is that a fair characterization?

MR. PACKER:  Well, it is a change that we're proposing to take effect in the first -- in 2009, which is the beginning of the second year of the five-year IR plan.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, I take that point.  So, yes, 2009 is year 2.  Correct.

So can we agree that we can use the words, this is an "ownership rebasing" application?

MR. PENNY:  What do you mean by "ownership rebasing"?  I don't understand that.  You have to explain yourself --

MR. THOMPSON:  Changing the -- well, I thought I described it as changing the ownership of the utility that existed at the outset of the IR plan to something different.

MR. PACKER:  I would agree that the structure changes, but I wouldn't agree that it's fundamentally different than what existed before, because all that's happening in terms of the structure is that there is a general partner and a limited partnership being inserted between Union and Westcoast, and Westcoast still maintains control over
the -- over Union Gas.

MR. THOMPSON:  But it's something you can't do without an order of this Board, right?

MR. PACKER:  I would agree with that.  That's the purpose of our application and why we're here today.

MR. THOMPSON:  So to the extent incentive regulation was intended to prompt the utility to achieve cost savings without coming to the Board, this cost saving is not of that type.

MR. PACKER:  I'm not sure what cost savings you're referring to.  The restructuring that we've been talking about has no impact on Union Gas.

The impact that you referred to of a million-two or a million-three a year is the result of redeeming the pref shares and replacing them with debt, and that does not require the approval of the Board and is something that we could have done without the restructuring.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you didn't, and now the -- perhaps I could put it this way.  The cost of service implications of the application are a $1.3 million reduction in utility costs.

MR. PENNY:  Well, Mr. Chairman, perhaps I could ask for guidance on this.

I hesitate to object, because usually the objections take longer than hearing the evidence, but there is -- there is this kind of second layer here, which is if Mr. Thompson wants to complain about whether ratepayers have some claim over -- to that, I question whether this is the time and place for that, and I am conscious of fact that Mr. Mondrow, this letter which you referred to earlier says -- I think in the relevant -- in the business end of his letter, he says:

"IGUA's impression is that this revenue requirement impact --"

That is the million-three:

"-- is a relatively minor consequence of a restructuring formulated in response to an entirely different driver in order to enhance Spectra's ability to time income distributions for US tax purposes."

Which of course is true.  We have heard that.

But then he goes on to say:

"In IGUA's view, any concerns regarding whether this financial impact requires a rate adjustment are properly raised during Union's 2009 rate proceeding."

And my concern is that we end up doing this twice and with different people involved and different Board Members perhaps involved.

Mr. Mondrow wants to deal with this as part of 2009 rates.  Mr. Thompson apparently wants to deal with it here, and I have a concern about that, about the possibility, first of all, of doing it twice and secondly, the possibility of inconsistent results and so on.

It does seem to me, frankly, that if there is an issue, if people want to take an issue about whether this million-three impact is something that ought to accrue to the benefit of ratepayers, this is not the time or place, because it's really got nothing to do with this application.  It's not subject to the Board's approval in this application.  The rates, of course, are, and whether something during IR -- during the IR term qualifies for an adjustment or not is a matter that is subject to the Board's jurisdiction.

So it is not a question that my friends can't -- don't have a forum to raise this.  I just question whether this is the forum.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, my simple mind operates in this fashion, that if this application triggers a cost of service reduction, then it seems to me a direction should be issued in connection with the approval of the application, that that cost of service reduction be brought into account in the rate case.

I'm not so sure that if we don't raise it here, we don't lose our chance to raise it later.

MR. PENNY:  Well, I can certainly -- I can certainly say that while we don't for a moment accept that there is any merit to this suggestion, I certainly accept that they're entitled to raise it.

So if that's the problem, then there is no issue, Mr. Chair.

MR. RYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I have a position on this issue that may be appropriate to say.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ryder.

MR. RYDER:  I think there are two aspects to the $1.3 million cost reduction.

One is the treatment of the reduction itself, and the second is the, what I say -- contend is the failure by Union to disclose this cost consequence when the IR case was under way.  That could have ramifications in this particular application, in terms of how you deal, for example -- I think Union should be brought to -- brought up or confronted with its failure to disclose and explain it.

It may not have any rate implications, the failure to disclose, but I think it should be addressed now; that is, its failure to disclose at the time of the IR case.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I agree with Mr. Thompson and Mr. Ryder, but we also have a slightly different take on it, and that is this.

It should be part of the Board's function, in considering a MAAD application or any application of this category, whether there should be conditions attached to the approval.

One such condition that the Board, I think, should normally treat as one of the things they consider is whether there should be rate implications.

So it may well be that in argument, in submissions later today, Mr. Penny could prevail on the point of whether its best to deal with it here, in your order here, or in an order in the 2009 rate applications, but it seems to me right now the question is:  Should you hear the evidence?

Our submission is you should, and then let it be dealt with in submissions later.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny.

MR. PENNY:  Well, just two points, Mr. Chairman, first with respect to Mr. Ryder saying there is two issues.  I mean, it's the same issue.  The so-called -- first of all, we haven't established there has been non-disclosure, but the issue about disclosure is the same as the issue about the rate treatment.  So there isn't two issues.  It's the same issue.

I take no issue if the Board wants to make it a condition of approval that the ratepayers are not foreclosed from raising the issue of the rate treatment of the collateral -- this collateral saving that Mr. Thompson in his own questioning has established was entirely collateral to the reorganization, if they want to raise that in the context of the 2009 rate case, and they're entitled to do so, then that's fine.  I have no issue with that.

That does not require us to get into a long, drawn-out examination of this issue in the context of this application.  All it requires is that their rights are preserved.  And the whole point is, I think -- what I am saying is that to the extent that we hear the evidence now, we're going to have to hear it all again, if that's what happens, and if the suggestion is that you, somehow make a ruling on this, it does absolutely seem to me that this is not -- on the merits of the point, that this is not the time or place for that.

MR. KAISER:  Well, Mr. Penny, I think we should let the evidence unfold and allow Mr. Thompson to continue.

There may be issues of disclosure, quite frankly, and these parties will have an opportunity to make submissions with respect to conditions.  Our jurisdiction here is very broad.

So we will hear the evidence and we will deal with it at the end.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I think I have all I need on that point at the moment.

Let's move on, witness panel, to another topic, which I call the corporate implications of the proposal.  This relates to the reconstitution - I don't know if that is the right word - of Union Gas Limited as Union Gas Company, a Nova Scotia company.  And we asked some questions about all of this, and it is Exhibit C.1 that I wanted to draw your attention to, please.

MR. PENNY:  Sorry, C?

MR. THOMPSON:  C.1.

MR. PENNY:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  We had the perception that we were dealing with two separate entities, and you have clarified that in this response, but I want to take you to subparagraphs (f) and (g) of your interrogatory response, where in (f) you tell us, at least as I understand it, that Union Gas Limited will continue to exist, and you point out they're not two separate companies.

Then in (g), you appear to be saying, and my question is, on this -- you say Union Gas already owns assets and engages in business activities other than regulated utility operations.  Then you refer to the NGEIR decision.

Can you tell us what Union Gas Limited will be doing under the proposed structure?  Will it have any business activities?

MR. PENNY:  Sorry, I'm missing something.  It's the same entity.  Union Gas Limited becomes Union Gas Company, so there is no Union Gas Limited anymore.  That's the whole point.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then (f) says Union Gas Limited will continue to exist.  You seem to be saying it doesn't exist.

MR. PENNY:  No.  The entity continues to exist.  It is just that the name becomes Union Gas Company.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right, fine.

So there is no plan to somehow segregate the unregulated storage assets into one of these two entities?

MR. PENNY:  Well, the witnesses can answer that.  The answer is, no, because there isn't two entities.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is that right, Mr. Packer?

MR. PACKER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, thank you.

So it's business as usual, as far as the operation of the storage assets is concerned?

MR. PACKER:  Business as usual as far as the operation of anything that Union Gas Limited has been doing, including storage.

MR. KAISER:  Would that be the same going forward?  In other words, if there were new investments that Union Gas Limited would be contemplating, in the new world when UGL becomes UGC, will there be some other entity that might pick up those business opportunities?  Is that contemplated?

MR. PACKER:  The application that's been brought before the Board has no impact on that type of decision.  To the extent Union Gas was developing storage under the pre-existing structure, that will continue under the structure that's contemplated in this application.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. PACKER:  So I don't see that will change.

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, I just note that that answer that Mr. Thompson was just referring to in (g) does go on to say there is no present intention to engage in materially different business activities than UGL is currently engaged in.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right, thanks.

Just back, if I might, to the benefits for Spectra of this transaction, I think we took it, from your original responses to interrogatories, that Spectra, as a US holding company owner of a Canadian utility, would be with this transaction better off compared to a Canadian holding company owner.

But the supplemental or addendum that you provided to Exhibit C.2 - so this is C.2 "Addendum" - suggests otherwise.

In this response, you seem to be saying, and my question is:  Is this what you're saying, that Spectra is currently exposed to double taxation and that this transaction is designed to eliminate that exposure to double taxation?

MR. HEBERT:  That's correct, reduce or eliminate.

MR. THOMPSON:  In eliminating that exposure, then, does that, in effect, put Spectra on approximately the same footing as a Canadian holding company?  Or is Spectra better off than a Canadian holding company?

MR. HEBERT:  No, Spectra is not better off than a Canadian holding company.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So then that prompts me to ask a question about the memorandum of the board of directors we were looking at a moment ago, Exhibit D.7.  On page 2, towards the bottom it says:

"The resulting corporate structure would also allow for a future transfer of an ownership interest in Union Gas in a more tax-effective manner."

Could you explain what that means?

MR. HEBERT:  Well, when you do tax planning, at some point in time you always have -- look at, if an entity were ever to be sold, this is a more efficient structure, from a US perspective.

MR. THOMPSON:  What is it that produces an ownership interest that will enable Union Gas to be transferred in a more tax-effective manner?

MR. HEBERT:  It is the calculation of earnings and profits, which we describe within our evidence, and what we -- what this structure is trying to do is manage when that earnings and profit is repatriated back to the parent company, and that's all this structure is trying to do, is manage when that cash would eventually go up to the parent.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is that something more favourable than a Canadian holding company has?  Or is it approximately the same?

MR. HEBERT:  It would be approximately the same.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So will approval of this transaction provide any incentive to Spectra to sell Union Gas, any more than exists now?

MR. HEBERT:  No.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, the next topic I had -- and this is getting towards the end -- was -- concerns the implications of an approval here on dividend payouts from Union Gas Limited to -- up, eventually, through to Spectra, and I provided notice of this in a letter that I sent to the Board.

Perhaps you could just take this subject to check, to put some context to these questions.

At page 34 of Union's 2007 annual report, it shows net income and comprehensive income for 2006 -- if you would take subject to check -- of $104 million.

Then it has pref share dividends of five million and common share dividends of 49 million for a total of 54 million, or -- I make that a dividend payout ratio of slightly over 50 percent.

Could you take that, subject to check?

MR. PACKER:  I will.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Then in '07, the net income and comprehensive income is shown at 145 million, and then pref share dividends of five million and common share dividends of 36 million, for a total of 41 million, which I make to be a dividend payout ratio of slightly less than 30 percent.

Would you take that, subject to check?

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Thompson, do you have those -– do you have the reports with you?

MR. THOMPSON:  I have one copy, yes.

MR. PENNY:  Perhaps we could share them with the witness and then we wouldn't have to take anything subject to check.  We could just --

MR. THOMPSON:  You just want the one page or the whole thing?

MR. PENNY:  I think the one page is probably sufficient, from what you're referring to.  Am I --

MS. COCHRANE:  Perhaps, Mr. Thompson, we could mark this as an exhibit, since this isn't part of the prefiled evidence, and this will be exhibit number K1.1; and if you could describe it on the record, please?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  It's page 34 from Union Gas Limited's 2007 annual report.  
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  Page 34 from Union Gas Limited's 2007 annual report.

MS. COCHRANE:  Thank you.

MR. PACKER:  Yes, we can take it subject to check, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  My question then is -- and the retained earnings as of December 31, 2007 on that document you have, I think it's $628 million; is that right?

MR. PACKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So my question is this:  What prevents the utility from, in effect, declaring a $300 million dividend on January 2, 2009?

MR. PACKER:  Sorry.  Sorry, where did you get the 300 million from?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, half of the retained earnings.

MR. PACKER:  The primary item that prevents us from doing that is our undertaking to maintain a common equity level consistent with what the Board has approved, which is 36 percent.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Do you know -- well, let me ask it this way:  Is the approval of this transaction going to lead to a large dividend from Union, up to -- through 
its -- the partnership, and then to Spectra?

MR. PACKER:  No.  I don't see how the approval of the transaction has any impact on the dividends that could be paid.  The million dollar pref share redemption, in theory, could generate higher earnings that may -- may form a component of a higher dividend, but that's in theory.  And a million dollars is not material, relative to the dividends we pay out today, and a lot of other considerations would be brought to bear on that decision.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, does the ring fencing that's in the undertakings, preventing you from -- preventing Union from falling below 36 percent common equity, does that work 365 days a year, day in and day out?  Or can it be taken down below 36 for a period of time, and then brought back up?

The reason I ask this is in these days of financial turmoil, there is a scenario where Union may -- or, sorry,  Spectra may want to get at Union 's money.

My question is:  Is the utility protected from that contingency?

MR. PACKER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And it's the undertakings that provide the protection?

MR. PACKER:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  Can I just understand a little more clearly the dividend payout, 50 percent in '06 and 30 percent in '07.

How is that ratio affected by the undertakings?  In other words, let's just use '07 as an example.  Are you saying that the undertakings would, in effect, proscribe a maximum payout ratio?  And, if so, what would that have been, just to give us an example?

MR. PACKER:  I don't think that's the way to look at the undertakings, in terms of a maximum payout ratio.

The calculations we do to determine what level of dividends we can pay are done prior to making any dividend payments, and what we look at is the cash we're generating from operations relative to the cash we need to grow, 
and -- because some of the money we are making is used to fund expansion.

I don't think we'd get in a situation where we got a lot of buffer, in terms of the dividends being retained and not flowed through, but in theory, I guess, you could pay no dividends and that would allow you to provide more dividends in the next year.  That's why I think I take issue with the way you have described it, but it really is the common equity requirement that drives the maximum amount of dividend we can issue.

MR. KAISER:  Is your year-end December 31st?

MR. PACKER:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  So we are in November.  When would the decision be made as to the dividend payout for this year?

MR. PACKER:  We make dividend payouts quarterly and there have been three this year, which total $49 million to date, and that's approximately 16 or 17 million a quarter, and which would generate about 65 million annually under normal circumstances.

MR. KAISER:  The 49 is on both the preferred and common?

MR. PACKER:  Sorry, the 49 was --

MR. KAISER:  Just the common?

MR. PACKER:  Just the common.

MR. KAISER:  When would the payout for the last quarter be determined?  When would that decision be made?

MR. PACKER:  Near the end of the fourth quarter.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Those are my questions, Mr. Chair.  Thank you very much.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  Mr. Ryder.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Ryder:

MR. RYDER:  Thank you, sir.

Mr. Hebert, when you prepared your memo in 
Exhibit D.7, at that time had you identified the cost implications of replacing the preferred shares?

MR. HEBERT:  No, we hadn't.  Sorry, no, we hadn't.

MR. RYDER:  When did you look at the cost implications?

MR. HEBERT:  The way that structure happens, because I represent all of our Canadian operations, we would have looked at a number of planning opportunities for all of Canada, and this was just one of them.  Then when we decided that we wanted to go forward with this, then at that point in time that's when we would have brought this forward to Union Gas, and this is something that we would like to pursue.

It wasn't till late this -- it was July that we actually looked at the implication.

MR. RYDER:  July of '08?

MR. HEBERT:  Of '08.

MR. RYDER:  But I take it the redemptions are an essential component of the plan?

MR. HEBERT:  That's correct.  The reason why it is an essential component is that if you put a limited partnership in place and Union Gas becomes an unlimited liability company, then your pref shareholders are -- have unlimited liability to all of the -- you know, all liabilities for Union Gas.  So we wouldn't get approval for something like that.

So that's why it was important for us to take the pref shares out.

MR. RYDER:  All right.  So it is an essential component of the plan.  You will agree that the cost savings results from the redemptions?

MR. HEBERT:  There is the cost savings that we have mentioned in our evidence, that's correct.

MR. RYDER:  And inevitable consequence of the redemptions?

MR. HEBERT:  That...

MR. PACKER:  One of the things you need to keep in mind in the context of how that million-three is arrived at, if you look at the exhibit that was provided that quantifies the amount - it's the attachment to 
Exhibit B.2 - the amount arises as a result of the relative costs of pref shares to dividends and the different tax treatment that is afforded to both.

So, you know, the amount is not something that you can calculate precisely without knowing the cost of the debt that's being issued to replace the pref shares.

MR. RYDER:  Well, was some cost consequences -- consequence foreseeable when the plan was initiated back in July or August of 2007?

MR. PACKER:  I believe the assumption was that there would be no impact on Union Gas, and we did not undertake to try and quantify what the impact would be until this past summer.

MR. RYDER:  When were you in a position to quantify --

MR. PACKER:  You can do the --

MR. RYDER:  -- within a reasonable forecasted amount?

MR. PACKER:  You could do the calculations whenever you wanted to, but you'd have to make some assumptions about the cost of debt and what the tax consequences were going to be.

MR. RYDER:  Isn't that what happens when you're forecasting any cost item?

MR. PACKER:  Yes.

MR. RYDER:  Why didn't you, then, enquire into the cost implications --

MR. PACKER:  Because our --

MR. RYDER:  -- more thoroughly in 2007?

MR. PACKER:  Because our assumption at the time -- first of all, you have to recall this wasn't driven by anything particular to Union Gas or Canada.  Our assumption at the time was that this had no impact on Union Gas.

And the million-two to million-three amount that shows up in this exhibit, to me, is not material.

MR. RYDER:  Well, what would be a material cost consequence?

MR. PACKER:  I don't have a precise estimate of what's material and what isn't, Mr. Ryder.  A million dollars on $800 million of delivery revenue to me is not material.

MR. RYDER:  Well, a $1.5 million is a material amount for Z factor purposes?

MR. PACKER:  It is one of the criteria of the Z factor, yes.

MR. RYDER:  Yes.  And in this case, the cost consequences is $5.2 million over the term of the plan.

So doesn't that strike you as being material, in that sense?

MR. PACKER:  We're talking about $1 million on an $800 million delivery revenue.  Our O&M and revenues, individual components of our revenue requirement are much more volatile than $1 million.

MR. RYDER:  The same could be said for Z factors of $1.5 million?

MR. PACKER:  That's why there are other criteria being applied to Z factors.  It is just not just a materiality --

MR. RYDER:  In terms of the amount, 1.5 million does it?

MR. PACKER:  That's one of the criteria, yes.

MR. RYDER:  You can get rate relief or you can get -- it affects your revenue requirement, for which you have a rate adjustment.

MR. PENNY:  Is there a question, Mr. Ryder?

MR. RYDER:  I just don't -- my question is, then, Mr. Packer:  Why is materiality of $1.5 million for a Z factor sufficient when $1.3, four times over -- during the term of a plan isn't?

MR. PENNY:  Well, in my submission, Mr. Chairman, this is an entirely argumentative issue, and the question is in fact ill-founded because, as Mr. Ryder knows or should know if he has read the settlement agreement, it is an annual requirement, not a cumulative requirement.

If Union was coming in trying to seek rate relief for something that cost a million-two a year, but was trying to get over the threshold because it cost 5 million over five years, there is no way the intervenors to would allow that to go by.

So, in my submission, it is an ill-founded and argumentative question.

MR. RYDER:  Mr. Packer, were you responsible for 
the -- you held responsibilities for the IR case during 2007?

MR. PACKER:  Yes.

MR. RYDER:  And from your experience, shouldn't the Board be placed in a position where it can decide whether a cost reduction is material?

MR. PACKER:  The real --

MR. RYDER:  You're not a gatekeeper in that sense, are you?

MR. PACKER:  Obviously the Board has discretion in how particular items are treated.

The reason I was trying to be careful in responding to your questions about Z factors and materiality is as a result of some of the other Z factor criteria.

Something has to be outside of management's control to qualify as a Z factor.  This, in my submission, is within management's control.

So you are focussing on one particular aspect without recognizing that there are other criteria that should be applied when the Board determines how something is treated.

MR. RYDER:  If it was a cost that you anticipated to fall into the term of the plan mid-term, what criteria do you use as to whether or not to address it during the IR case?

MR. PENNY:  Sorry, Mr. Chairman, I don't believe it has been established that Mr. Packer thought this was a cost that fell within the IR term at that time.

MR. KAISER:  Why don't we pursue that, Mr. Ryder?

When did you -- we had a -- I thought we had a long hearing -- this is a different question; I don't mean to interrupt Mr. Ryder -- but we had a long hearing on what would be the impact on IR of known changes in tax levels.  Long hearing.

None of this came up in that hearing.  Would this have had any effect on that discussion?

MR. PACKER:  I would not have thought so --

MR. KAISER:  I don't know.  I'm just asking.

MR. PACKER:  -- for a few reasons.  First of all, the subject of our application is the change in ownership.

The reference and evidence on pref shares is really to try and provide parties with a little bit more detail about related items.

The discussion on income tax changes and how that affects or is going to show up in the inflation factor is quite different than the effects of exchanging pref shares for debt, in my submission, and the tax effects associated with doing so.

MR. KAISER:  When did the board make a decision to proceed with this plan?

MR. PACKER:  When did the board of directors?

MR. KAISER:  Yes.  I presume it was subject to approval of the board of directors?

MR. PENNY:  That's on the document Mr. Thompson was referring to.  The meeting was September of 2008.  September 5 is the date of this briefing memo, and I believe the board meeting was shortly thereafter.  It may be the same day.

MR. KAISER:  Sorry, Mr. Ryder, I interrupted you.

MR. RYDER:  Well, if the prospect of a tax reduction in 2009 -- or a cost reduction in 2009 was taken into account during the ADR of the last incentive regulation case, do you agree with me that that could have been dealt with by the parties when they drafted this settlement?

MR. PENNY:  Again, we're back where we were, Mr. Chairman.  I don't think it has been established that Mr. Packer regarded -- even knew there was going to be a cost reduction as a result of this, back at that time, which was in --

MR. RYDER:  No, but if it was -- if it was taken into account, it could have been dealt with.

MR. PENNY:  Well, if the question is purely hypothetical, then I would object to it on that basis.  You either have a factual foundation for putting a question to a witness, or not, it seems to me, with respect.

MR. KAISER:  Well, I think we should establish that, Mr. Ryder.

When did -- Mr. Packer, when did you become aware that this plan was likely to take effect?  Not necessarily formal approval by the Board, but was likely to take effect?

MR. PACKER:  When it was likely to take effect?

MR. KAISER:  Yes.

MR. PACKER:  In the June/July timeframe of 2008.

MR. RYDER:  Mr. Herbert, to whom was your memo of August 30th, 2007 directed?

MR. PENNY:  It's Mr. Hebert.

MR. RYDER:  Hebert, thank you.

MR. HEBERT:  That memo actually would have been addressed to the US parent company.

MR. RYDER:  And what was your first response from the US parent company?

MR. HEBERT:  From the US parent company?

MR. RYDER:  Yes.

MR. HEBERT:  The response was it didn't look like there were any Canadian tax issues, and as a result, they would look into the transaction further.

MR. RYDER:  And the memo was requested by the US parent?

MR. HEBERT:  That's correct.

MR. RYDER:  And so what was the next step after the -- sorry.  When did the US parent get back to you, saying it would look into it further?

MR. HEBERT:  Well, it's something that -- there are a number of tax planning things that we look at.  It probably would have been, you know, probably a couple of months after that.

MR. RYDER:  So that would take us to October of 2007?

MR. HEBERT:  That they were definitely interested in it.  That's --

MR. RYDER:  All right.  Definitely interested in it?

MR. HEBERT:  Yes.

MR. RYDER:  So is it fair to say that the plan was a probability as of October of '07?

MR. HEBERT:  I'd say it was a low probability.

MR. RYDER:  Well, why do you rank it as a low probability?

MR. HEBERT:  I guess the reason I would say that is that when we look at the various tax planning opportunities that are out there, we look at whether or not we can actually implement them.  And one of the things -- there are other transactions similar to this that we have engaged in, and one of the things we looked at was we thought it was going to be difficult, because we were going to have to go to the Board and get approval.

So we look at our energy and where are we going to spend our time, and so we looked at other transactions that we thought were easier to implement.

MR. RYDER:  Was there any other transaction that could have yielded the results of this one?

MR. HEBERT:  Yes.

MR. RYDER:  Thank you, sir.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  


Mr. Shepherd.
Cross-examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Mr. Chairman, do you have a plan for when you want to take the morning break?

MR. KAISER:  At your convenience.  Would this be a good time?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it's a bit early but I have about a half an hour, so...

MR. KAISER:  We'll take the break.

--- Recess taken at 10:29 a.m.


--- On resuming at 10:51 a.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Shepherd.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:  

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

Let's start with the approval you are requesting, Mr. Packer.

You have indicated that the -- it's all one integrated transaction; right?  It's a series of transactions put together?

MR. PACKER:  I'm not sure what you mean by "integrated transaction".

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you have the transfer of shares to the limited partnership.  You also have the move to Nova Scotia and the redemption of prefs, and they're integrated.  You have to do all three; right?

MR. PACKER:  My understanding is we have to do all three to achieve the US tax outcome we're looking for.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So although your view is that the Board's approval is only required for the transfer of the shares to the limited partnership, in fact your board of directors has made that a condition of all three components of the transaction; right?  The resolution is in Exhibit D.7, and it makes those things subject to approval of the share transfer.  

If you take a look at pages 2 and 4 of the resolution, both the redemption of the preference shares and the move to Nova Scotia are made conditional on the OEB approval for the transfer to the LP.

MR. PACKER:  Sorry.  I see on page 2 there is a reference to subject to obtaining OEB approval, but it's not specific to approval of what.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a defined term.  OEB approval is defined as the approval of the OEB for the transfer of the common shares, just above it.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. PACKER:  I don't believe I can agree with you.  I don't have a legal background, but this, to me, suggests that the approval is the transfer of common shares, which is just one of the three pieces.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, and your board of directors has said that you are not authorized to redeem shares unless you get that OEB approval; isn't that right?

MR. PACKER:  To transfer the shares, that's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll move on.

Are you aware of any other monopoly franchises in the energy sector in Ontario that are held by companies that are not under Ontario jurisdiction; that is, companies that are not incorporated in Ontario?

MR. PACKER:  I'm not aware, but nor have I done any research nor is that my area of expertise.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  You have said in your evidence and in your response to interrogatory B.7 that -- and interrogatory D.14, that, in your view, the approval of the Lieutenant Governor in Council is not required for this transaction; is that right?

MR. PACKER:  Do you have a specific reference?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, D.14, start with D.14.  These are actually the toss-ups.  I am not at the hard questions yet.

D.14 says no approvals are required except the OEB; is that right?

MR. PACKER:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And B.7 --

MR. PENNY:  B, as in Bob?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Board Staff question 7 says that the LGIC is the party to the undertakings and not the OEB, and that you don't need to go to the LGIC to get approval for this.  If they ask you to, you can change them, but, otherwise, you don't have an obligation to go to them; right?

MR. PENNY:  That's not what it says, but that is our position, yes.  That is the fact.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

But you have said that if the Lieutenant Governor in Council asks you to add the limited partner and the general partner to the undertakings, you will do so; correct?

MR. PACKER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you told the LGIC that you're doing this?

MR. PACKER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Have they given you approval or permission to go ahead?

MR. PACKER:  They haven't responded, which my understanding is that's -- can be interpreted as support, but, again, they haven't responded.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, you lost me here.

MR. PACKER:  All I'm saying is they don't necessarily respond.  We have provided the information to them, and we have received no response.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When did you provide that information?

MR. PACKER:  I don't know the exact -- well, we provided them with the information as per direction of the Board, so it would have been around the time the evidence was served on the parties.  There are no specific dates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They got the notice of application at the same time as we did, for example?

MR. PACKER:  I don't know exactly when they got the information.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

Your view is that -- in your responses on October 6th to the Board Staff questions for clarification, you indicated that, in your view, the limited partnership and the general partner become parties to the undertaking, because they're affiliates.  Is that right?

I can quote it back to you, if you want.

MR. PACKER:  In our view, there's no need to explicitly identify them as parties to the undertakings, because they are subsidiaries of Westcoast, who is a party to the undertakings.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, then let's just pursue that.

They're not actually affiliates, are they?  The general partner is, but the limited partnership isn't, is it?  Mr. Hebert, you're familiar with this as a tax lawyer -- or as a tax accountant.

An affiliate has to be a corporation; right?

MR. HEBERT:  I don't think the definition of tax for affiliate would apply to the definition of affiliate in the undertaking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's correct, isn't it, Mr. Packer, that an affiliate is a corporation, and unless it is a corporation, it's not technically an affiliate; isn't that right?

MR. PACKER:  In what context?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a term of art.

MR. PENNY:  It's a legal question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Does the company have a position on whether a limited partnership is an affiliate?

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Hebert has already said that the -- that, as you know, Mr. Shepherd, limited partnerships act for all legal purposes through the general partner, so that's how they sign contracts.  So if the limited partnership is to be -- if the government asked for the limited partnership to sign the undertakings, it would do so through the general partner.  That's how limited partnerships act in the world, for legal purposes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're saying that the limited partnership and the general partner are not different?

MR. PENNY:  Not in connection with the signing of contracts, no, because that's how limited partnerships -- that's why you have general partners.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, the undertakings say that you are obligated to ensure that the shares of Union Gas are owned by Westcoast or an affiliate; right?

MR. PENNY:  Can you direct us to what you are referring to, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.

MR. PENNY:  It would expedite matters if you could refer the witnesses to the evidence you are referring to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Have the undertakings been put in evidence, by the way?

MR. PENNY:  No.  I think everybody in the room has them, but I don't think they're part of the evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can we have a number?

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, do you have a copy?

MR. KAISER:  I do, but I have the August 10th, 2006 and the December 9th, 1998.

MR. PENNY:  December 9, 1998.  Those are the current undertakings.

MR. KAISER:  Let's give them a number, shall we?

MS. COCHRANE:  That will be Exhibit K1.2.
Exhibit No. K1.2:  Undertakings of Union Gas Limited.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, you said you had August 2006 --

MR. KAISER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- undertakings?

MR. KAISER:  August 10th, 2006.  I don't know that it bears on this.  It had something to do with conservation.

It was an Order in Council attaching a Minister's directive.  I don't know that it bears on this at all.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.

So Mr. Packer, item 10.1 in the undertakings, says that you're:

"... released from the undertakings on the day that Westcoast no longer holds more than 50 percent of the shares, either directly or through an affiliate."

Correct?

MR. PACKER:  That's what it says.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if a limited partnership is not an affiliate, then approval by this Board of this transaction would be your release from the undertakings; isn't that true?

MR. PENNY:  Again, that's a legal question.  That is now how we interpret it, because the limited partnership acts through the general partner.  The general partner is clearly an affiliate; it is 100 percent owned by Westcoast.

So I would disagree with your proposition.  That is not -- certainly not how we would view it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me turn to the purpose of the -- the tax planning purpose of the transaction.

If I understand this correctly, Mr. Hebert, the primary reason why you are doing this is because right now, if you move money back and forth between Union and its parent, for example to manage the equity ratio, through dividends or through reinvestment, some of those transactions are taxable in the United States, under their sort of expanded view of income of the US parent, right?

MR. HEBERT:  It would be characterized as earnings and profits and taxed in the US.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And this has nothing to do with whether you pay it back to Spectra.  This has to do with moving it around in Canada?

MR. HEBERT:  No.  It is only ones the cash goes to the US that the tax is -- that the US tax applies.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, and so that's why I didn't understand, because on the one hand it sounded like you -- and you said a number of places you want to manage the capitalization of Union, right?

MR. HEBERT:  Not the capitalization.

We want the flexibility to manage dividend or cash movement from Union up to Westcoast.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I refer you to B.6.  In the last paragraph, it says that the purpose of this is to allow you to -- I am paraphrasing -- to permit the future movement of cash from Union to the LP, and quote:

"...as Union manages its targeted capitalization ratio."

Did I misunderstand this?

MR. HEBERT:  The target capitalization ratio, that's driven by the letter of undertaking.  And that, as we move that cash up, if we are also moving cash up to the US, could create some tax issues for us in the US.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this -- so the fact that you're moving around in Canada means nothing.

The fact that you are eventually moving it back to Spectra, that's what matters?

MR. HEBERT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

And so then -- and in fact, the reason why there's a difference in the US between one approach and the other approach is because you change the character of the payment back to Spectra, and allow Spectra to deduct against it the premium paid on the purchase of Duke in the first place, right?

MR. HEBERT:  No.  What this structure allows us to do is to move cash up into a limited partnership and leave it there, and then cash that we have in the parent company, because it has a different characterization, it can move to the US on a tax-deferred basis or a tax-free basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So Union is not going to -- the plan is not for Union to pay money back to the limited partnership, which then sort of re-characterizes and allows you to pay it back to Spectra, right?

MR. HEBERT:  It doesn't re-characterize it.  It just allows us to choose when that income goes up to Westcoast, and then when will it go up to the parent company and be taxed.

It's simply managing the timing of that cash movement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then what was this stuff -- and I'm trying to find the reference -- but there was stuff in here about the fact that this allowed you to deduct the premium on -- paid on goodwill.

Do you recall that?

MR. HEBERT:  That's correct.  That is a tax deduction in determining your US earnings and profits.  There's no change in characterization.  That's a factual calculation.

MR. KAISER:  May I ask you something while Mr. Shepherd is pausing?

I understood you to say that the problem was that when you sent money to the US, you got taxed on it, and you were trying to somehow reduce those taxes.  As I just heard your most recent answer, you can park it in Nova Scotia or wherever the limited partnership is, but you're still going to get taxed whenever you send money to the US.

MR. HEBERT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. KAISER:  So it is just deferring the taxes?

MR. HEBERT:  That's correct.

MR. KAISER:  Not reducing the taxes?

MR. HEBERT:  It is a deferral, that's correct.  Well, there's two components.  One is the $50 million we talked about, and then there is the 35-cent example we talked about, so...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.

So now I found that reference.  It is in C.2 addendum -- that's why it was fresh in my mind, it was yesterday -- in which you said you are going to save this $50 million because if you change the timing of when money goes back to the US, it allows -- you then can deduct these loss carry-forwards from the goodwill premium on the purchase; is that right?

MR. HEBERT:  No.  The goodwill generates a loss carry-forward for US tax purposes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes?

MR. HEBERT:  And if we leave the structure in place, we have, in effect, a loss carry-forward from a US perspective related to our Union Gas business.

And if we leave that structure in place, we will never be able to use that loss carry-forward.

What this structure allows us to do is to utilize that loss carry-forward, and that loss really was generated by the goodwill.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah, ah.  I get it.  Okay.

So the effect of this, as I understand it, is, then, this removes a barrier on Union Gas paying dividends because, in the past, if you paid dividends, you created bounce-free negative tax consequences for Spectra, and now that won't be the case, right?

MR. PACKER:  I wouldn't agree with that.  I don't perceive there to be any barrier today.  The limit -- not in the context of the structure and the double taxation issue anyway.  The barrier is our common equity requirement to maintain at 36 percent. 

And we tend to manage towards that with a little bit of buffer, to make sure we don't violate the requirement.  So we're not -- if the concern is that we're holding on to a bunch of cash we could have dividended out, that's not the issue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

Now the other benefit is that on a sale of Union 
Gas -- this would be on the sale of the shares of Union Gas, right, is when this would arise -- you can sell out of the limited partnership and that will be taxed in Canada more favourably than would be the case under the old structure, right?

MR. HEBERT:  No.  There will be no -- if we were to sell Union Gas shares or the limited partnership interest, the tax consequences would be the same.  You still have the same tax base and you still have the same proceeds.


So there is no -- from a Canadian perspective --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what's the benefit on sale, then?


MR. HEBERT:  Again, it is managing your earnings and profits, which is a US taxable income calculation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am driving at is:  Is this a benefit that you get only if you sell -- like, have a transaction in the United States, you sell your Canadian operations as a whole, as a US transaction, or, conversely, is it a benefit that you only get if you sell a Canadian asset to a Canadian, or does it happen in all cases?


MR. HEBERT:  The benefit, we're simply trying to manage -- or the avoidance of double taxation is the movement of cash from Union to the US.  What is driving this is not a sale of Union Gas.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I know, except that is a secondary benefit and trying to get the nature of the benefit.


MR. PENNY:  I think what Mr. Hebert is trying to tell you, Mr. Shepherd, is that the attraction is that to -- a US purchaser will have the benefit that we hope Spectra will enjoy as a result of this.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.


MR. PENNY:  So there is no benefit free-standing on a sale.  It's simply that we solve this problem so that somebody else doesn't have this problem.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's more attractive acquisition for a US acquirer?  It would make no difference to a Canadian acquirer which structure you had, because they get the same treatment anyway; right?


MR. HEBERT:  I suspect that -- you know, again, I'm a Canadian tax person here speaking about US, but if you had a new acquirer of Union Gas, if they were to set -- if they were interested in Union Gas or any other utility, for that matter, would set the structure up right from the get-go to purchase a utility.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


MR. HEBERT:  So this doesn't do anything for another entity, US entity.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.


The work you did on this -- and you work for Union Gas; right, Mr. Hebert?


MR. HEBERT:  I am responsible for all of Spectra's Canadian companies.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your employer is Union Gas?


MR. HEBERT:  But my employer is Union Gas.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you and presumably your staff worked on this in 2007; right?


MR. HEBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And was the work you did on that, the cost of that, was that charged back to the parent?


MR. HEBERT:  Yes.  We allocate our expenses to all of our Canadian affiliates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That wasn't the question.  The question was you are doing this to give the parent a benefit.  Did you charge them for the cost of doing that?


MR. HEBERT:  Yes.  The cost goes up to our parent, that's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, which would be your Canadian parent, WEI; right?


MR. HEBERT:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Spectra never paid for it?


MR. HEBERT:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I take it, then, that your 2007 base rates don't include any of these costs in them?  They have been backed out already; right?


MR. PENNY:  Which costs are we talking about?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The costs of putting together this plan.  It's not cheap.


MR. PACKER:  Our 2007 rates -- that is correct.  Our 2007 rates wouldn't have included costs associated with this plan.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So some portion of Mr. Hebert's salary, for example, staff salary, stuff like that, were backed out because they were working on things like this?


MR. PACKER:  The service level agreements in place with all of the entities he provides service to, and the work he would have done on this plan would have been on the -- on behalf of Westcoast.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


Now, in 2008, 2009 and '10, there are going to be some cost consequences of this; right?  You have been working on this.  You have this regulatory proceeding, et cetera, and you have been working on it in terms of planning, getting board approval, things like that, in 2008.  So that's all going to be costs; right?


Presumably those are all backed out and charged to the parent, as well?


MR. PACKER:  We are going to ensure that all of the costs associated with this endeavour are charged through to Westcoast or other entities that are benefitting.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, in D.13, we asked you about compliance with material contracts.


One of the things you said was the only -- quote, "the only contracts who identified with such constraints", that is constraints on transferring the ownership or moving jurisdiction,

"...are financing agreements which contain limitations on Union changing its jurisdiction of incorporation.  Union will comply with the contractual requirements contained in those agreements."


So I take it that means that you have to get your bank's permission, and things like that; right?


MR. PACKER:  It's describing there are a few steps we need to follow.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There are costs associated with that?


MR. PACKER:  There may be, and those costs will not flow through -- there may be costs, but they will not flow through Union Gas's earnings.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do you have those approvals, by the way?


MR. PACKER:  We don't, and we -- we know what the steps are, but we're not going to proceed until we know the outcome of this proceeding.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You talked about -- if you take a look at D.9, one of the effects of this is that the parent company, the limited partnership in this case, the parent company to the regulated utility, becomes liable for all of its debts; right?


MR. PENNY:  Could you say that again, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The shareholder -- shareholders of Union Gas become liable for all of the obligations of Union Gas; right?


MR. PENNY:  Under the Nova Scotia law as applied to the unlimited liability company.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  That's right, on a windup, I think with the qualification that that liability only triggers -- is only -- the shareholders don't become liable to creditors of Union Gas on an ongoing basis.  They only become liable to the creditors of Union Gas if Union Gas were wound up.


That's the only difference.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is much like partners in a partnership; correct?  Sorry, that was actually a question.  It is much like partners in a partnership?  That's the model?


MR. HEBERT:  I am not --


MR. PACKER:  I don't know.


MR. HEBERT:  The...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Here's my concern.  The standard practice in tax planning - and, Mr. Hebert, you will be aware of this - the standard practice in tax planning, if you use a -- you change to an entity that has unlimited liability, which is often useful, partnerships or whatever, is that you try to replace the risk management that limited liability gives you with other forms of risk management, like contractual terms, insurance, operating changes, et cetera; right?  That's standard practice?


MR. HEBERT:  That's correct.  When you set up your limited -- in this case, when you set up your limited partnership, that's what gives you the protection.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I take it that Union Gas is not planning to make any operational changes, and you have said as much in D.9.  You're not planning to make any operational or contractual or similar changes that will minimize your liability because now the shareholder has liability?


MR. HEBERT:  The shareholder, which is a limited partner.


MR. PENNY:  Sorry, just so we're clear, is the question:  Is Union Gas proposing to change anything in the way it does its business, because the limited partnership, under this structure, would be responsible for Union's liabilities on a windup?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, yes.


MR. PENNY:  I think the answer to that is, I'm sure, "no".


MR. HEBERT:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I presume if the Board made that a condition of its approval, that that would be fine?


MR. PACKER:  Generally that would be the case.  With any condition, it all depends on how it is worded and whether it captures things it wasn't intended to capture.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course, yes.  Of course.  All right.


Just a couple of other things.  It's correct, isn't it, that the corporate law rules are different in Nova Scotia than Ontario?


MR. HEBERT:  For the ULC, they would be different than a limited company in Ontario.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and, in fact, isn't it true that you are required to move your registered office to Nova Scotia under the Nova Scotia Companies Act?

MR. PENNY:  I think the requirement is to have a registered office.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And your minute book must be there, your share register must be there, et cetera; all of that normal stuff that would -- is currently required to be in Ontario, would be in Nova Scotia; correct?

MR. HEBERT:  From a legal perspective?  I mean, I'm from a tax perspective.  I can't speak to that, but...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can -- I'm going to ask a number of questions about how this affects the company operating here, so can anybody help me?  I mean, Mr. Penny, can you assist the Board on this?

MR. PENNY:  No.  If it's a legal requirement, then I am sure you will raise it in argument.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's correct, isn't it, that under the Nova Scotia Companies Act, the directors do not have a duty to act in the best interests of the corporation?  Is that correct?

MR. PENNY:  That's not correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then I will ask you, Mr. Penny, in argument, I will ask for you to point to the provision, because the Companies Act doesn't have one.

MR. PENNY:  Well, I can address that right now, Mr. Chairman.  The Companies Act in Nova Scotia does not have that provision, but Nova Scotia law, like the rest of Canadian law, recognizes the directors' duty, the fiduciary obligations and the duties of care owed by directors and officers, as a matter of common law.  And in fact all of the -- it is well recognized in corporate law that what the OBCA does, for example, is simply encode that obligation.

So my position on that is that the directors will continue to owe fiduciary obligations and duties of care to the corporation, just as they do now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Two other questions.  First, Exhibit D.3, you have indicated that you do not have any plans to have any other activities in the limited partnership presently, but that you might in the future; is that right?

MR. PACKER:  I think what it says is we have no current plans.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it also says, as part of WI's ongoing activities, it may decide in the future to do so, right?

MR. PACKER:  Yes, it says that.

MR. PENNY:  Just as it could now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you will be aware that the spectre of limited partnerships doing business with an affiliate regulated entity during IRM is something that has caused great grief in the past, with the CustomerWorks Limited Partnership?  I am sure you noticed that in the Enbridge context, right?

MR. PACKER:  Can you --

MR. PENNY:  I'm sorry.  What's the question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Have you ever heard of CustomerWorks Limited Partnership?

MR. PACKER:  I have heard of CustomerWorks.  I wasn't aware it was a limited partnership.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do I take it that you will not be using the limited partnership to provide services to the regulated entity?  Is that fair?

MR. PACKER:  I think --

MR. HEBERT:  At this point in time --

MR. PACKER:  I don't think I can say much more than what is in the interrogatory response.  We don't have any current plans to do that, but...

We don't have any current plans to do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

Finally, let's just talk about this conversion of the pref shares to debt.

This third party debt, that's already placed, presumably?  You already know who is lending you the money?  It's $110 million?

MR. PACKER:  Yes.  The question of whether it has already been placed or not is not straightforward.

We did issue $300 million of debt in the -- near the end of September.  We did issue $300 million of debt a few months ago, and based on our current expectation in terms of earnings and capital expenditures and so forth for next year, we don't anticipate needing to issue debt next year.  But the forecast is not complete.

So in that context, the issue that we made previously should carry us through for the next year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You used an interest rate of 6.05 percent in estimating the impact of switching to debt.

Do you recall that, in your --

MR. PACKER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- C2.  Where does the 6.05 percent come from?

MR. PACKER:  That was the coupon rate on the debt we issued the end of August.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you didn't take it out of the air.  That's what it is costing you for debt?

MR. PACKER:  That's what it cost us when we issued this debt, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  So then that leads to the question:  When you did the planning in 2007 -- by the way, that memo, Mr. Hebert, is that your authorship, the tax- planning memo, the step memo?

MR. HEBERT:  That comes out of my office, that's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That -- you expected that you would have to replace the pref shares with debt, right?

MR. HEBERT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it is obvious to anybody who does tax that once you do that, there's going to be a tax implication; correct?

MR. HEBERT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What was the delay from August 2007 till now to implement this?

MR. PENNY:  He did address that already, in answer to questions from Mr. Ryder.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand.  I'm pursuing --

MR. PENNY:  You're asking him to repeat himself?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am pursuing it.  You had other things to do in October, you said to Mr. Ryder, right?

MR. HEBERT:  That's correct.  I mean there is other tax planning opportunities, and also when you think about that timeframe, we're getting ready for year-end and there is a lot of work that is required to get ready for year-end.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're also in the middle of an IRM case, and so coming to the Board with something else would be complicated.  Isn't that one of the factors that you took into account?

MR. HEBERT:  That, and I was also -- had an audit ongoing from CRA, which was keeping me fairly busy at the time, too.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you made a conscious decision not to bring it to the Board at the time, even though you knew -- you knew it was okay to do it.  It was a good idea, it was a just not the easiest time to bring it forward.  Is that right?

MR. HEBERT:  There were other -- as I mentioned earlier, there were other opportunities as well that we were pursuing.  So when we ranked them in terms of what would be the one best to pursue at that time, based on the resources that we had, and we chose at that point in time not to go forward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But Mr. Hebert, once you did this step memo and the guys at Spectra had reviewed it and said yes, it works, there was -- you knew sooner or later you were going to do it, right?  It would be silly not to.

You didn't have another solution to that problem, and you had an easy one available.

MR. HEBERT:  The other issues we were working on had nothing to do with this particular transaction.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is true you knew that sooner or later you were going to do it, right?  It was only timing.

MR. HEBERT:  At some point in time, you know, if we could go through the process, yes, it would be one of the opportunities we would pursue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  

Thank you for your patience, Mr. Chairman.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Board Counsel have any questions?  
Cross-examination by Ms. Cochrane:


MS. COCHRANE:  I have just a few questions, Mr. Chair.

First, a couple of questions about replacing the preference shares with debt, and the tax savings that will result.

In response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 2 at Exhibit B.2, you stated that:

"There is a modest annual reduction in revenue requirement of $1.3 million per year that will benefit the ratepayer on rebasing."

If I understand correctly, this benefit will not be incorporated into rates until rebasing, which Union isn't scheduled to do until 2012; is that correct?

MR. PACKER:  That's right.  The rates will not be adjusted to reflect this until rebasing.

MS. COCHRANE:  Is it expected that the savings resulting from the tax savings will be dealt with in Union's 2009 rate proceeding?

MR. PACKER:  I think you heard Mr. Penny say earlier that if -- if there was going to be a discussion about that, that was the better place to deal with it.

He didn't say it would be appropriate to change rates to reflect this, and I would take issue with having rates change to reflect this adjustment.

MS. COCHRANE:  I now have a couple of questions about the conversion of the preference shares to debt, and we've just heard you say that you have just issued $300 million of debt.

Is that a publicly issued, publicly traded debt?

MR. PACKER:  Yes.

MS. COCHRANE:  Yes.  Now, if I recall correctly, the value of the pref shares you are going to be redeeming is $110 million; is that right?

MR. PACKER:  Yes.

MS. COCHRANE:  So how do you rationalize replacing $110 million of pref shares with $300 million of debt, and of particular interest is:  How does this affect Union's debt-equity ratio?

MR. PACKER:  I don't think it has any effect on Union's debt-equity ratio.

What -- as I was trying to describe earlier, when you go to the markets to issue debt, there are a lot of factors you take into consideration in terms of the amount.  Typically, you are issuing debt to help fund expansion.  So the -- this was something that, in hindsight, will permit us to carry through next year, likely without requiring the issue of debt, but we needed debt for other purposes, in addition to the pref share redemption.

MS. COCHRANE:  Perhaps I am being a little simplistic about this, but if you have taken on what appears to be an extra $200 million of debt, would that not have some sort of impact on, you know, what your debt is as a percentage of the company's total assets?

MR. PACKER:  Not if the reason you are issuing the debt is to grow your business.

MS. COCHRANE:  All right.  Well, in 2007 I believe your annual report indicated that your debt ratio was 41 percent as a percentage of your total assets.

What is that going to be in 2008?

MR. PACKER:  We have a requirement to maintain 36 percent common equity and, typically -- that's a requirement, so we can't go below that.  Typically, we try and remain a little bit above to maintain a margin of safety.

MS. COCHRANE:  So your evidence is that your debt-equity ratio is going to remain the same, at least compliant with the requirements pursuant to the undertakings to the LGIC?

MR. PACKER:  That's right.

MS. COCHRANE:  And just a couple of questions about those undertakings.

There was some discussion earlier about whether the Minister of Energy and Infrastructure had been given notice and made any comment.

Just to confirm for the record that according to the Board's letter of direction September 25, '08, the notice of this proceeding was to be served on the Minister.  Can you just confirm that was done?

MR. PACKER:  I don't personally know that it was done, but I -- having been in the role that would have ensured that was done previously, I am sure it was done.

MS. COCHRANE:  Just to follow up on that --

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Kitchen advises me that -- I think 
Mr. Packer is telling us he didn't deliver it personally, but I can advise the Board that it was done.

MS. COCHRANE:  Just following up on that, was there any response or comment from the Minister of Energy?

MR. PENNY:  Again, I can advise the Board that there has been no response from the Minister of -- or the Minister of Energy.

MS. COCHRANE:  Just a couple of questions going back to the debt issue.

Is there any security required for that debt that would affect the assets of Union Gas?  Like, did you have to pledge any sort security in case there is a default, that somebody is going to come and take away your pipelines?

MR. PACKER:  It was just normal debt, so I don't know the answer to that question.  There was nothing unique about it or unusual.

MS. COCHRANE:  Maybe your counsel can be of some assistance, if he was involved with the transaction.

MR. PENNY:  Sorry, I cannot help you.  I rather suspect that the bank issuing $300 million of debt wants security, and Mr. Packer has indicated it is ordinary course financing.  So I rather suspect that there is security, but I don't know that for a fact.

MS. COCHRANE:  Could we get an undertaking to advise the Board of the security associated with the debt issue?

MR. PENNY:  I wonder whether that is really necessary.  Perhaps we could proceed on the basis that there probably was security, and...

MR. KAISER:  I presume -- just to save us some time, Mr. Packer, I think you said that the security was the usual security that supports all of your debt?

MR. PACKER:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  Can we proceed on that basis?  Is that acceptable?

MS. COCHRANE:  Yes.

MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

MS. COCHRANE:  Those are all of my questions, Mr. Chair.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Penny, are you ready 
to -- do you have any re-examination?

MR. PENNY:  First of all, I have no re-examination.  Thank you.  I am ready to proceed.

MR. KAISER:  All right, go ahead.
Submissions by Mr. Penny:

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, this of course is an application for leave of the Board for Westcoast Energy Inc. to transfer Union's voting shares to a wholly-owned limited partnership of Westcoast's.  It's under Section 43(2) of the act.  I don't think there is any controversy about this.  

Subsection 2 provides that:
"No person without first obtaining an order from the Board granting leave shall acquire such number of voting securities of a gas transmitter or distributor or storage company, that together with voting securities already held by such person and one or more affiliates or associates of that person will in the aggregate exceed 20 percent of the voting securities of a gas transmitter, distributor or storage company."

There is no particular exemption for intercompany transfers, and so that's what gives rise to the technical requirement for the Board's approval of the reorganization in this case.

Union -- Westcoast and Union, excuse me, submit that the application should be granted, essentially because the transfer of Union's shares to a limited partnership will have no adverse impact on Union, on any customer of Union or on any party, for that matter, and will have no impact at all on the management or operations of Union, including Union's costs.

Now, there are, as you have heard, three elements of the planned reorganization.  Only one, the transfer of the shares from Westcoast to the wholly-owned partnership, engages the jurisdiction of the Board.  The other two elements are the continuation of Union as an unlimited liability company in Nova Scotia and the redemption of the $110 million of preference shares.  And those, as you have heard, do not require the Board's approval.

The steps are outlined in the prefiled evidence at paragraph 7, and the steps are to incorporate the general partner, to form the limited partnership, to transfer ownership of the voting securities of Union, and then to the limited partnership, and then there is the little -- the one one-hundredth of a percentage piece to the general partner which goes through Westcoast, and then to the general partner.

Step 3 obviously is the only step in the five steps for the transfer that requires the Board's approval.  That's when ownership of 99.999 percent of the voting securities of Union is transferred from Westcoast to the limited partnership.

As the evidence indicates, the reorganization, of which the share transfer is a part, will rationalize the treatment of Union's dividends in the US and under US accounting rules so as to minimize double taxation of those dividends in the hands of US shareholders.

Exhibit C.2 and the addendum to Exhibit C.2, which reference has been made -- to which reference has been made, shows that under the present structure there is the potential for double taxation in the realization of Union dividends under US tax rules.  And although, as the evidence shows, the minimization of double taxation is a principle underlying cross-border tax arrangements, there are complex rules which apply to cross-border matters, which do not always make it easy to achieve that principle, and, in essence, the current structure does not achieve that principle.  And what the parent of Union Gas is seeking to do is to, if not achieve that principle, at least get closer to it.

And as you have heard in the examination by Mr. Thompson, the tax advantages that are sought through the restructuring in this case are not putting Spectra, as Union's parent, ahead of where some other owner would be, but really trying to get back to -- for example, a Canadian owner -- but really trying to get back to neutral on the tax effect of dividends being paid out of Union.

In essence, the insertion of the limited partnership into Union's ownership structure and the conversion to a Nova Scotia ULC provides Spectra with more control or with the ability to time the dividends of Union and to realize on this loss carry-forward resulting from the goodwill associated with the Westcoast acquisition, to manage those two aspects of the relationship in a way that does not affect Union, does not affect any of Union's costs or operations, but has the result of placing those two matters under a more advantageous tax treatment structure.

Although the continuance in Nova Scotia and the redemption of the preferred shares do not require OEB approval, of course, as you have heard, they are necessary steps in the reorganization.

And although they do not form any part of the reorganization for which this Board's approval is required, those steps, of course, were discussed and described in the evidence in some detail.

The evidence is clear that continuance in Nova Scotia as an unlimited liability company has no impact on the Board's jurisdiction over Union and its regulated activities, has no impact on Union's governance or operations and has no impact on Union's costs, including its tax costs.

It might be worth just looking briefly at answer to Board Staff Interrogatory B.1, where we have attached the provisions of the OBCA and the Nova Scotia Companies Act, and this is really to illustrate the point that you have heard on numerous occasions today and seen in the evidence, that all of Union's obligations continue, regardless of the transfer to Nova Scotia.

If you would look at the attachment 1 to that answer, Mr. Chairman, to the second page, this is -- this is an Internet version of a provision from the OBCA -- the Ontario Business Corporations Act, under which Union is currently subject -- and if you would look at the bottom of page 2 of that attachment.  Do you have that?

MR. KAISER:  I do.

MR. PENNY:  Subsection 9.  This is the provision that requires the continuation of all of the corporation's obligations.  So it says:

"A corporation shall not apply under subsection 1 to be continued as a body corporate under the laws of another jurisdiction -–"
I.e., Nova Scotia:

"-- unless those laws provide, in effect, 

that --"


And we see a list here of five things:

"The property of the corporation continues to be the property of the body corporate.  The body corporate continues to be liable for the obligations of the body corporate.  Any existing cause of action claim or liability to prosecution, unaffected.  A civil, criminal or administrative action -–"
Such as a proceeding before this Board:

"-- or a proceeding pending, by or against the corporation may be continued to be prosecuted by or against the body corporate, and a conviction against the corporation may be enforced against the body corporate or -–"
And this is, I guess, the relevant part:

"-- a ruling, order or judgment in favour of or against the corporation may be enforced by or against the body corporate."

And so you can't do this unless Nova Scotia provides for the continuation of all of those obligations.

And if you would then flip the page and look under subsection 4.  This is an extract from section 133 of the Nova Scotia Companies Act, and subsection 4 is the relevant provision for this purpose.  In fact, you will see that subsection 4 of the Nova Scotia Companies Act actually provides for the continuation of more things than the OBCA requires, but certainly the things that the OBCA does require are all in here, and if you start at subsection (c), you'll see it says:

"The property of the company shall continue to be the property of the company, subject to the power of the company to thereafter dispose."

So again, that is, of course, a right that the company has:

"The company shall continue to be liable for its obligations, all rights of creditors and others against the property, rights and assets of the company and all liens on its property rights and assets shall be unimpaired and none of the company's rights or properties and none of the company's contracts or obligations shall be prejudicially affected, nor shall the company be deemed to have liquidated or dissolved.  Any existing cause of action, claim or liability to prosecution in any jurisdiction shall be unaffected, and a civil, criminal or administrative action or proceeding pending by or against the company or its directors or officers in any jurisdiction may be continued to be prosecuted," et cetera.

Then flipping the page, we see again the language:

"A conviction against or ruling or order or judgment in favour of or against the company or its directors or officers shall continue to be enforceable."

Then there is some additional provisions which go beyond the OBCA requirements.  I perhaps don't need to get into those.  

The point being that Union, we say in the evidence, Union's obligations are unimpaired as a result of this.  

It's not selling assets.  It's not becoming a new corporation.  It's continuing.  It is a unique -- unique legal form of corporate law that enables a company to continue in another jurisdiction.  It does not cease to exist and is reinvented.  It continues.

And in order to ensure that there is no prejudice to the world, to third parties, of course there are these provisions that say that you can't do it unless all of your obligations continue, and Nova Scotia law provides that that is so.

For Canadian tax purposes, the ULC -- as the evidence is clear, and there's been no challenge to this – it's the same -- an unlimited liability company in Canada is exactly the same for tax purposes as any other business corporation in Canada, and subject to tax on all its taxable income.

The only impact of the ULC is that the owner of a ULC becomes on wind-up an unlimited -- sorry, becomes liable for the obligations of the company.  And the advantage, I guess, of the ULC, as the evidence discusses briefly, from a US tax perspective is that it enables -- it is treated as a non -- as not a separate entity, so under US tax rules, the ULC Union will be, in effect, a flow-through into the limited partnership.  

For that reason, the ULC is needed in this structure, but it has no impact on Union or its operations.  It is all above -- or below the 49th parallel, if I can put it that way.

Because, however, the conversion of Union to an unlimited liability company has the potential on wind-up to expose shareholders to unlimited liability, that generates the need to redeem the pref shares, because the preferred shareholders, of course, did not buy into unlimited liability when they acquired the pref shares.

Under the terms of the principal series of pref shares, the bulk of that 110 million, Union only has a redemption option on January 1, 2009, and you have heard the evidence that that is part of what drove this process in June or July of -- first in June or July of 2008.  

Because the pref shares -- the currently outstanding pref shares -- are considered debt for the purpose of Union's regulated capital structure, the replacement of the preference shares with debt will have no impact on Union's capital structure.

As the evidence also describes, there is a modest reduction in tax payable, all else equal, as a result of the favourable tax treatment of debt as opposed to equity, and that, as you have heard, is valued at approximately 1.2 to 1.3 million per year, depending on which year you are looking at.

Bottom line, Mr. Chairman, neither the conversion nor the preferred share redemption has any adverse impact on Union or its customers or on Union's costs revenues, rights, assets, obligations, liabilities, management, operations or governance.

Union's Canadian tax status will not change nor will its taxes payable, subject only to this modest preferred share redemption issue.

Union's management, board of directors and effective ownership will not change.  Union's head office will remain in Chatham, and the company will continue to be operated and managed from there.

The minute books and office of registration that Mr. Shepherd made reference to have no impact on the operations of Union.  It's an address for service purposes, only.  The fact that copies of Union's minute book will be kept in Nova Scotia, in my submission, is not a matter of any materiality whatsoever.

Most importantly, all of Union's regulated operations will remain subject to the OEB's jurisdiction.

On the benefit side of the ledger to Spectra, I want to emphasize this benefit of Spectra that's been referred to arising from the reorganization is not a benefit in the sense of obtaining some additional reward that was never present before or unavailable to others.

As I have said, cross-border ownership of a Canadian business by a US parent creates additional problems that were not present when Westcoast owned Union, and, as the evidence says, when Westcoast owned Union there was no issue or risk of exposure to double taxation on Union's dividends, but because of the complex rules relating to the US-Canada tax treaty and cross-border rules associated with that, now, with Union's dividends eventually being realized in Spectra's hands, there is a risk of double taxation.

So the activity involved in this reorganization is not trying to get some new benefit, but, rather, to minimize a dis-benefit, if you will, that arises from cross-border ownership trying to get back to neutral, as I have said.

As you have heard, there are essentially two ways in which Spectra's cross-border tax problems are reduced by this reorganization.  One is through the utilization of US tax depreciation available on the goodwill premium that Spectra paid for the Westcoast business in 2002.

And then, of course, there's -- the second arises from the ability to defer the realization of Union's dividends in the future and to potentially match those as they're passed through to Spectra with losses in particular years from other aspects of Westcoast's Canadian business, because Westcoast, as you know, carries on a number of Canadian businesses, to match those with available losses in other years so as to gain efficiencies in the payment of those taxes in the US.

I guess the -- again, bottom line, the important issue here, the tax efficiencies are not at Union's expense.  They do not arise from the utilization of any accounting asset or opportunity that Union could otherwise have enjoyed.  These are purely tax -- US tax accounting issues affecting only a taxpayer in the US.

So there is no adverse impact to Union, and because there are tax efficiencies to Union's parent in the complex world of cross-border tax rules, Union's board of directors, in the exercise of their fiduciary responsibilities, approved the transaction in September 2008.

The relevant question for the Board, in my submission, is the same as the question before Union's board:  Is there any negative impact on Union, or has any asset or opportunity of Union's been appropriated as a result of this?

And clearly there is no negative impact.  There is no evidence of any negative impact, and clearly there's been no misappropriation of any benefit available -- otherwise available to Union.

That's all you have to know, in my submission, in order to grant the approval, and everything else that has been raised is a red herring.

I did want to make reference briefly to an answer to an interrogatory of the CME's that relates to the public interest, and that is Exhibit C.1.  It's the answer to subsection L, and question L was -- asked, in effect:  What's the implication for the Ontario public interest by having this transaction occur?

Union's answer is that because the proposed reorganization has no material impact on Union's operations or costs and no material impact on Union's customers, the reorganization raises no public interest concerns with respect to Union.

But then we go on to say that the reorganization and the conversion to a Nova Scotia ULC in no way affects the Board's jurisdiction or ability to regulate Union in the public interest.

Then -- sorry, then we go on to say, where I was trying to get to, at a higher level we say it is in the public interest that Ontario be and be seen to be a desirable jurisdiction in which to invest.

As you know, Mr. Chairman, one of the objects of the Ontario Energy Board in subsection 2 -- or in section 2, excuse me, point 5.1, is facilitate maintenance of a financially viable gas industry for the transmission, distribution and storage of gas.

What we say here is:
"Spectra Energy has invested through its equity in Union approximately $1.3 billion in Ontario.  The conversion of Union to a Nova Scotia unlimited liability company has no adverse impact on Union or its businesses, services or customers.  The conversion does, however, enable the ultimate owner of Union, a US entity domiciled in the US and subject to US taxation on dividends from non-US sources, to achieve tax efficiencies in the realization of US income."

In the applicant's view, and, in my submission, if an internal corporate reorganization of Union's ownership structure which affects no substantive change in the ultimate owner, but which generates economic benefits to the owner can be achieved at no cost to and with no adverse impact on Union or its customers, that is in the public interest.

There is a bit of a typo there.  That is supposed to be all the same sentence.

Let me just say very briefly, with respect to the 1.3 million anticipated reduction in the cost of capital as a result of the redemption of the pref shares, clearly, as you've heard in the course of the cross-examination, this was not -- it's very much a collateral issue.  It is not the driving force behind this reorganization at all.  It wasn't even quantified until quite recently, in the summer of 2008.

We at Union, as I said at the outset, Mr. Chairman, take the view that the treatment of that 1.3 is not an issue that should be or needs to be resolved in this hearing.

We accept -- without accepting that there is any merit to the proposal, accept the ability of the ratepayers to raise whether they should have a claim to that money, and that, we say, can be dealt with in due course in the context of Union's 2009 rate proceeding.

So I won't go into it anymore, because we say that Union -- if you need to hear from me more on this, then I am happy to outline it in more detail, Mr. Chairman, but essentially our position is it is not an issue that is necessary for you to decide in this case, provided that the right of the intervenors to raise the issue is preserved.

And we have -- I think I made it very clear we accept that right is preserved, and, so that is, I think, all that needs to be said or done about that.  And everyone's rights will be reserved to address the question of whether that should or should not -- any portion of that should or should not be reflected in rates during the incentive regulation term.

So at the end of the day, Mr. Chairman, we say for essentially the same reasons as Union's Board approved this transaction, because the reorganization creates no de facto change of control and involves no cost or any adverse consequences to Union or its customers, the OEB should approve this request for leave to transfer Union's shares from Westcoast to the proposed Westcoast wholly-owned limited partnership.

Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd.
Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I have four general points, and then a suggested resolution of this for consideration of the Board.

The first point deals with the new set of legal rules that will apply to Union Gas under the Companies Act of Nova Scotia.

Mr. Penny has said the evidence on the record is clear that there is no impact, but in fact when we asked questions about it, his witnesses couldn't answer.  Nobody could answer the details of the different legal rules.

Obviously, continuation of a company is basically the company saying:  We don't want this set rules to apply any more; we want this new set of rules to apply.  And many corporations acts allow for this.

The difference in this case is the Nova Scotia Companies Act follows the older, more traditional view of a joint stock company, and the Board will be aware from corporate law 101 that companies evolve from partnerships, and the Nova Scotia approach is much more like a partnership.

And so the result is that, for example, directors have more duties to shareholders than they do in Ontario.  That's a fact.  It's because of the evolution of the beast.

However, having said this -- and a long time I did I do some work in fiduciaries, so it is close to my heart, but -- and I would love to spend a half hour talking about it, but really, this Board's jurisdiction on that point is engaged in a prudence review, because this is relevant to the Board in assessing whether the Board can rely on the board of directors of a monopoly distributor to be a sort of a protection level for the company.

And I think that is the time to raise that, so I think we're happy to park it.

The second general question is:  The evidence is that this structure improves the ability to sell to a US purchaser.  It doesn't improve the ability to sell the company to a Canadian purchaser, but it does to a US purchaser, because of -- the structure is more attractive to a US purchaser.  However, having heard Mr. Hebert on this point, it appears to us that that is not material, because a purchaser could require it be done before they purchase anyway.

So I will leave that aside.

The third general point is:  When we first saw this, we were actually most concerned with the notion that this would be the thin edge of the wedge for income trusts and limited partnerships and things like that, as the new structure of regulated utilities in Ontario, which would then allow them to collect tax money from the ratepayers, but not actually pay those taxes.

That -- and of course that concerns the ratepayers.

It is clear that in this case, that's not what is happening.  Union Gas is going to -- subject to one small issue -- Union Gas is still going to pay the same taxes.  They're not proposing to collect money and then not pay taxes.

So we think it is -- it would be a good idea for the Board, in its ruling, to make clear that it's narrowly confined to those circumstances, so that it doesn't become the thin edge of the wedge, but we think that it is quite different from the potential bigger problem that we were concerned with.

The fourth general point, however, still concerns us, and that is this:  To our knowledge -- and we have done a little checking, but it is hard to check completely thoroughly -- to our knowledge, this would be the first non-Ontario entity holding an Ontario monopoly energy franchise.

That is a policy issue and potentially a politically sensitive issue, and I can think of arguments on both sides.  But I guess this has not been a very good forum to have that particular debate.  We didn't come sort of loaded for bear on that, as it were.

So we are expressing a concern about that, and we have a suggestion for how you deal with that in the context of our proposal.

Our proposal is this:  Our proposal is that the Board approve the transfer and thus the series of transactions, in effect, subject to seven conditions, and those conditions are the following.  

First, that Union Gas and the new limited partnership and the general partner and WEI, Westcoast, enter into new undertakings, so that the limited partner and the general partner become parties.

I point out, Mr. Chairman, that Union Gas, in their letter of October 6th says that because the undertakings referred to WEI and its affiliates, quote:

"The proposed limited partnership and the proposed general partner will become parties to the undertakings by definition."

Well, all the lawyers in this room, I think, know that's not in fact the case.  They don't become parties unless they sign.

Therefore, we think that for that reason alone, it is a good idea to have the undertakings re-signed with the new owner of Union Gas as a party.

There are three other reasons why that's important, and Mr. Chairman, I will take you to the undertakings.

And in item 10.1, which we referred to earlier, it says:

"Unless Westcoast directly or through its affiliates holds more than 50 percent of Union Gas -- of the voting shares of Union Gas, these undertakings fall away."

It is our view that technically the limited partnership, which would hold more than 50 percent of the voting shares, is not an affiliate because "affiliate" is a term that is defined in the Corporation Act, and it is a corporation, by definition.

In fact, the Board has said that on a number of occasions with respect to Affiliate Relationships Code issues, and it came up when we were talking about CustomerWorks Limited Partnership, and Enbridge took the position that CustomersWorks Limited Partnership was not an affiliate because it was not a corporation.

So therefore, to avoid that ambiguity and to avoid the danger that sometime down the line it could be argued that the undertakings were no longer valid, it is appropriate to have new undertakings signed.

The third reason is -- still on this first point -- the undertakings in 4.1 require that the head office of Union shall remain in the municipality of Chatham-Kent.  Now, their registered office, in fact, must now move to Nova Scotia under this rule, and I understand the difference between a registered office and a head office, but in fact, in the undertaking it might well be the case that this is intended -- the head office has the more traditional meaning of your official office, which would in fact be a registered office.

So by requiring that the undertakings be re-signed, that is rectified, because the LGIC will approve it.

The fourth is that the question I raised earlier, the question of this being the first non-Ontario entity to have a franchise -- a monopoly franchise in Ontario is a politically sensitive question, potentially politically sensitive.

If the LGIC enters into new undertakings, the Board doesn't have to be concerned with that, because that -- the sensitivity is dealt with.  The LGIC said:  Yeah, it is okay.

MR. KAISER:  Why is it a political sensitivity?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because we have a history in Ontario that every single -- there are hundreds of them -- every single monopoly franchise in Ontario is held by an Ontario entity.

And whether there's a concern that jurisdiction is more tenuous if its not an Ontario entity -– you know,  Fortis doesn't operate in Ontario through Fortis.  It operates through an Ontario company.  The same is true of Enbridge.

MR. KAISER:  But are you suggesting that -- Mr. Penny has referred us to section 133 of the Companies Act, which he says gives all of the protections that would exist under the Ontario statute, possibly more, including -- as he goes on -- that the Board's jurisdiction or ability to deal with this company is not diminished at all.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, actually, I --

MR. KAISER:  Is that not right, in your view?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, it doesn't say that.  In fact, what it says is that rulings and orders, at the time of continuation, remain in force.  They can still be pursued.  It does not say anywhere that the jurisdiction of a regulatory tribunal outside of Nova Scotia continues.  It doesn't imply that anywhere.

I think probably that's true, that the Board's jurisdiction does not change.  But it certainly doesn't say that in the Companies Act.


MR. KAISER:  Well, the fact is that this section in the Nova Scotia Statute mirrors the Ontario section.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  

MR. KAISER:  As far as the corporate statutes are concerned, maybe there is some other jurisdictional issue you are alluding to, but insofar as our jurisdiction is somehow circumscribed by corporation statutes, there doesn't seem to be any difference between Nova Scotia and Ontario.  Am I missing something?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think what the two provisions -- in continuation -- in corporate migration provisions --

MR. KAISER:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- the mirror-image provisions are intended to have a transfer of current attributes from one jurisdiction to the next, but they don't talk at all about future jurisdiction, only about the transfer.  That's the point of it.

By doing this transfer, you don't change the current snapshot, but then now you are subject to Nova Scotia law and -- 

MR. KAISER:  Tell me -- I accept that argument.

So tell me -- let's suppose you are right that 133(4)(h) just applies to existing proceedings or existing administrative action.  What would it be in Nova Scotia -- where in Nova Scotia law or statute do I look to see that future action by this Board would be compromised in some fashion?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't think that is the case, because, in fact, I don't think that your jurisdiction is circumscribed. 

Your jurisdiction comes from the fact that an entity, wherever it is, holds a monopoly franchise in Ontario.  So as long as they hold that franchise, you have jurisdiction for that reason.  That's not my concern.

My concern is that the Board has not had an opportunity in this proceeding to explore whether there are any ramifications.

MR. KAISER:  Isn't that why we're here?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I suppose.  My point is if you're setting a new precedent, like it doesn't matter where you are incorporated if you want an Ontario franchise, it may be appropriate to allow the government to have a say.

Since it is appropriate to ask for new undertakings, anyway, to get the right parties, that's an added benefit.

MR. KAISER:  Suppose, Mr. Shepherd, we add -- I guess it is two new parties as a limited partner and general partner.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  We add them and they sign.  Does your concern go away?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, but you can only add them if the LGIC accepts that.

MR. KAISER:  I understand, but we could make it a condition of approval for it to be signed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's exactly what I am proposing.

MR. KAISER:  Your concern would go away with that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the second condition is until that takes place and thereafter with respect to -- sorry.  Let me backtrack.

Until the new undertakings are signed with respect to the undertakings, and afterwards with respect to all other Board rules, that the limited partnership be deemed to be an affiliate, that at no time --

MR. KAISER:  I understand the second part.  I understand that the Board's order or decision here could be conditional on signing, so they do that.

What else was it that you wanted them to do?

MR. SHEPHERD:  For example, under the Affiliate Relationships Code, that it would be deemed to be an affiliate for purposes of the Affiliate Relationships Code, because right now --

MR. KAISER:  You do that by putting in a decision that these parties, these two additional parties, should be deemed affiliate.  Is that going to be binding on some Ontario statute?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it's the Board's Affiliate Relationships Code I'm concerned with.

MR. KAISER:  The Board's Affiliate Relationships Code?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yes.

MR. KAISER:  I thought you were concerned about some other --

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am concerned with, Mr. Chairman, is that right now, the parent company of Union is an affiliate, so subject to a set of rules --

MR. KAISER:  If Mr. Penny and his client agreed that these two new entities, who you want to sign, will be considered affiliates for the purpose of the Board's administrative action and jurisdiction, you would be satisfied?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, absolutely.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The third condition is the company has said that they do not currently intend to use the limited partnership to provide services to the regulated entity.

I will tell you, Mr. Chairman, I actually don't have much of a justification for this, except that because of the CustomerWorks Limited Partnership situation, the whole thing makes me nervous, and so I would ask that a condition be put that if they do propose to do that, that they provide notice before they do it.  That's all.  

As I say, I don't have a legal justification for that.  It just makes me nervous.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The fourth condition is that the revenue requirement commencing in 2009 be reduced by 1.3 million.  The 1.3 million, by the way, is the net of the difference between the -- I think is the net of the difference between the cost of the money, because the interest cost is higher than the dividend cost for the prefs, and the tax savings.  I think the tax savings is about 2.2 and the cost of the money goes up about 900,000, so it is about a $1.3 million net saving.

My rationale for this is this:  Mr. Hebert has admitted that in August of 2007 he knew that the pref shares would be replaced with debt, if this went ahead.  He's admitted that sooner or later they were going to do this.  He knew that.  He admitted that any tax practitioner would understand that if you replace pref shares with debt, there's a tax savings.  

So I very carefully made sure I got him to say "yes" to all three of those things.

As a result, in 2007, when they were coming forward with IRM, they knew they were going to have some tax savings.  They hadn't calculated them, I agree.  In fact, they'd put off putting this application in, because they were busy with other things, like IRM, but they knew it was coming.  

And at that time, it was appropriate for them to tell the Board that, and they didn't.  And had they told the Board that, in my view, the Board would have -- or in a settlement agreement, it would have been adjusted to reflect that change.

Therefore, it is our submission that one of the conditions of this approval be that the revenue requirement be reduced by that amount starting in 2009.

The fifth is --

MR. KAISER:  Can I ask you something there?  In your submission on that point, you base that on the notion that we at the Board must make a finding that there was a wilful lack of disclosure?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, I'm not saying --

MR. KAISER:  Or let's say maybe there wasn't a lack of disclosure.  Maybe they didn't know at the time what they were going to do.  Maybe the people at Spectra hadn't made up their mind.  Do you go so far as to say, even if they -- even if we cannot establish non-disclosure as a fact, the fact of the matter is there is a saving, and, on some basis, we should redo the gas IRM to reflect this item?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.

I think there is three levels, Mr. Chairman.  There is wilful lack of disclosure.

MR. KAISER:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Accidental or non-negligent lack of disclosure.

MR. KAISER:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And "didn't know".

MR. KAISER:  Which one are you relying on?

MR. SHEPHERD:  We do not think there was a wilful lack of disclosure.  We don't think the evidence is clear that they did anything purposely wrong.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We do think the evidence is clear, and is admitted on the record, that they knew there would be tax savings at that time.  Therefore, there is in fact a lack of disclosure, not intended to mislead the Board.  It just happened.

Therefore, our view is that that is no longer something that they were doing in IRM.

MR. KAISER:  Usually when you use the term "disclosure" or "lack of disclosure", it means you knew something that you should have disclosed to the other party, and that would mean that they knew there was going to be a tax saving.

So you say they at least knew there was going to be a tax saving sometime in the IRM period?

MR. SHEPHERD:  And, in fact, I believe that the transcript will show Mr. Hebert has admitted that.

MR. PENNY:  Sorry, that is not correct.  Sorry to interject, but that is not correct.

Mr. Hebert said nothing about when it was going to happen.  And Mr. Shepherd is now opportunistically saying, Well, it is clear it was going to happen during the IRM period.  

That is not the evidence.  The evidence is it was an idea, one of many ideas.  They were pursuing other things that had bigger bang for their buck or were easier to do.  Yes, at some stage they would probably get to this one, but it wasn't until summer of 2008, the evidence is clear, that they made that choice to actually proceed with that transaction.

So the suggestion that this was -- even though Mr. Hebert said, sure, it was going to happen some day, there is no evidence that Mr. Hebert thought or that anyone thought, at that stage of the game, that it was going to happen during the IRM period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In answer to your question, we think they knew.  We don't think they intentionally withheld the information from the Board.  They just didn't think to tell you.  But had they told you, that would have, in our view, affected the rates.

Conversely, if they had not known, if they actually didn't know there were going to be tax savings -- which we believe the evidence is clear that they did know -- then it seems to me it is something they did during IRM.  They get to keep it.  It is covered by earnings sharing.

If they had done this plan in 2008 instead of 2007, we could hardly complain that they were saving money on taxes.  They're allowed to do that during IRM.  The difference is they did the plan in 2007.  They knew that they were going to save money.  So because of that, it should have been in the base year -- the rates going forward.

So that's the fourth.

The fifth condition is -- and I think they have already said this, and I think the Board just needs to make it clear -- that all costs of the reorganization, whether this year or going forward, should be backed out of the utility accounts for the purposes, not just of rate-setting, but also, for example, earning sharing.  They shouldn't be -- the ratepayers shouldn't end up with them, anyway.

Sixth, there is -- we have a concern that this allows a little more freedom to pay out dividends.  In order to be careful, it appears to us to be appropriate for the Board to say that the company will, as required by the undertakings, continue to maintain its common equity on a regular basis; not just with the 90-day rule that is set out in the undertakings, but on a regular basis.

So that is:  Don't use this as an opportunity to grab all of the cash for a while, if that's what you want to do.  

MR. KAISER:  Let me understand.  Are you asking for yet another amendment to the undertaking?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  I don't think it is necessary to amend the undertaking.  I think it is just appropriate for the Board to say:  As a condition of this approval, we're expecting you to maintain your common equity, as you have in the past.

Finally, the company has made clear that they do not intend to carry out any operational changes, contractual, et cetera, of any material nature to protect against this unlimited liability.

I will tell you what my concern is, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Hebert has taken the view that the owner of the shares is a limited partnership.  No problem, right?  But the problem is that the general partner and the limited partner of the limited partnership are the same.  And that is the general partner is owned by Westcoast and the limited partner is Westcoast.

So to qualify for limited liability, you have to have nothing to do with the management of the limited partnership.  Westcoast may not qualify for that, and so they may be nervous about liability going up to Westcoast.  I would be too.

So we think that the seventh condition should be that Union will not make any material operational changes as a result of the unlimited liability status of the ULC.   

Now --

MR. KAISER:  Can you be specific?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Union Gas has said they will do that.

MR. KAISER:  What are the material changes you would be worried about that they might --

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example -- 

MR. KAISER:  Some insurance policy or something?  

MR. SHEPHERD:  When I used to do tax planning, I would say:  Well, you know you owe some money to the bank.  You should go and change the terms.  Get some more non-recourse, things like that.  It will cost you a little bit, but it is worth it for your liability impact.  It means --

MR. KAISER:  I am worrying about the practicality of this.  Material change could involve anything.  How are we going to watch -- let's suppose we agreed with your submission, for the sake of argument.  What material changes are we looking for?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's one example.  Another example would be they go to their -- they have master contracts with pipeline layers, companies that lay pipelines.  They go and they say:  We now want to negotiate different terms.  We want to shift more liability to you, less liability to us in these contracts.  This is all standard practice.  And we understand we will pay a little more for it, but we'll have less liability.

So you know, lots of that sort of thing happens in the normal course.  But if they start to have a practice of that, that costs the ratepayers money in the long term.  And it should be open to us to say, The Board told you not to do that.  And that's all I'm saying.

Those are the seven conditions, Mr. Chairman:  new undertakings; deem the limited partnership to be an affiliate; notice, if the limited partnership is going to provide services to the regulated entity; reduce the revenue requirement by 1.3 million; back out all costs of the reorganization in calculating earnings sharing; maintain the common equity in accordance with past practice; and no material operational changes as a result of having unlimited liability.

Mr. Chairman, subject to your questions, those are my submissions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Thompson.
Submissions by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I will be quite brief.  

We support Mr. Shepherd's submissions, and I just want to make a couple of points in addition to the ones that he has made.

Just as a general proposition, it is my submission that any proposed restructuring of the ownership of an Ontario utility is something that should be scrutinized carefully, on the public record, and in my submission, the degree of the scrutiny should be sufficient to provide the Board and interested parties with a comprehensive understanding of how the restructuring will affect the utility.

I agree with Mr. Shepherd that conditions should be added to your approval, to assure that the utility and the new structure is properly ring-fenced from its parent and affiliates, and he suggested a number of conditions and I agree, they appear to make good sense, and that, however, is for you to decide.

There is only one of the conditions that I wanted to speak to and that is the condition dealing with the cost-of-service reduction related to the conversion of the pref shares to debt.

Whether that is a condition or a directive, it is my submission that that must be passed on to ratepayers, effective January 1, 2009.  It's not a question of preservation of rights, in my submission.  It should be decided now that the ratepayers are entitled to this item of cost of service reduction.

The reason is -- and I don't put it on the quality of disclosure, I put it on a slightly different ground -- I submit as a direct cost-of-service benefit, that is attributable to the approval application.

So what we have here during the IR period is an application by the company, this -- which triggers this cost of service reduction.  It's not something that they have obtained outside of the Board hearing room.  It is something that is attributable to a hearing.  Things that are obtained by not coming before the Board, they would keep for the benefit of shareholders during an IR program.  However, this is clearly attributable to this approval.  It's -- in my submission, what we have is essentially what I characterize as a mini-rebasing application.  It is limited to the rebasing of the ownership of the utility that was in place when the IR plan was approved.

And when they come forward with a mini-rebasing application, it is my submission they have created a regulatory burden, and they can't keep the benefits of creating that burden that flow to ratepayers.  So there should be a concurrent passing on of the cost of service benefits attributable to this mini-rebasing process.  I suggest that is automatic, where they have to make an application of this nature. So that is an additional ground, if you will, for justifying the directive or condition that Mr. Shepherd has suggested.

There is one point that was raised in evidence.  Mr. Packer said, Well, we could have done this without a hearing.  We could have converted the pref and replaced it with debt.

In my submission, they didn't do that, and that's not what has triggered this cost of service benefit.  What has triggered it is this approval application, and now they must do it if the approval is granted.

So approve the application with conditions, and I will make the submission now on behalf of CME that it be awarded its reasonably incurred costs.  

Unfortunately, I have to excuse myself to attend a funeral.  So if you are going to deal with this later on today, I can't be here, but that's not intended to be disrespectful.  I just can't be here.

Those are my submissions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  Mr. Ryder.
Submissions by Mr. Ryder:

MR. RYDER:  Yes, thank you.

Yes, Kitchener supports the submissions of both Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Thompson which approve the application -- which would approve the application subject to conditions.

I would just like to deal with the delay by Union in disclosing the cost savings of $1.3 million which is to begin in 2009.

I don't say that Union intentionally withheld this information.  My take, my submission, is that Union doesn't seem to give sufficient priority to its obligation to disclose in a timely manner.

As I understand this obligation to disclose -- and after all, it is essential to the efficiency of regulation.  Regulation can't take place effectively without this obligation being honoured.  I see it as casting a burden or an onus on Union.  It has to explain why it didn't disclose earlier, and it's not up to the intervenors to drag out the information at a proceeding.  

So it's not appropriate, I think, for Mr. Penny to say we must prove the amount and when it was known and sort of prove the case against disclosure or for disclosure.

No, the obligation, I say, is on Union to show why it didn't disclose.

And here, I heard Mr. Hebert's evidence differently from Mr. Penny.  As I heard the evidence, as of October 2007, Union knew it would proceed with the plan and that the plan would have an incidental impact on Union's costs.

And, also, in October, we know that Union was involved in a settlement discussion resulting in the settlement agreement signed on January 3, 2008 for EB-2007-0606, which established a five-year incentive regulation plan.

So in October of 2007, if not earlier, I say Union had an obligation to investigate, to determine, to make a calculation as to the probable amount of the cost savings so that the parties -- which would occur, likely occur, in all probability, during the five-year term of the incentive regulation plan, and then to disclose that information to the parties.

I submit it's not sufficient for Union not to do so because it was too busy with other things or because the exact amount wasn't known.

I say this obligation is particularly important when, in all probability, the cost will fall during the middle of an IR term.  It's important that all that is known or expected, with respect to costs and savings, would be before the Board.

I mean, as proof that Union doesn't take its disclosure obligations seriously, I note that the $1.3 million cost savings was not even identified in this application or its prefiled evidence.  It was first identified in Union's response to the clarification request sent out by the Board.

Now, further on this point, I submit that the amount, as it turns out, of $1.3 million over four years of the plan, which comes from 5.2 million, is material.

I mean, if a one-time $1.5 million amount is sufficient materiality to be a Z factor, then $1.3 million over four years must or should also be regarded as having materiality.

In any event, at the settlement stage of an IR plan case, the question of materiality of any costs should be left for the parties to examine and for the Board ultimately to decide.

I don't think it is appropriate for Union to pre-empt that determination by not disclosing it or to postpone its cost calculation to another time.

So I submit that the Board should address this issue in this case.  I don't see that there is any benefit in postponing it to 2009.  All of the facts are before you.  There is nothing to be gained, except perhaps more legal costs, if the matter is deferred, and I think, more important, the issue of a cost saving here, this cost saving is linked to the issue of a failure to disclose.  And both issues are part of this application.

So in 2009, I think you divorce the issue with respect to the savings from its true context, which is to include it as two contexts, were it to be included with this case, this application by Union, and with the delay in disclosure by Union.


So I would ask that, in addition, your remedy and your decision address the failure to disclose.  I think it is more important than the amount, really.  

First of all, I ask that you consider directing Union to reduce its rates in 2009 by taking into account the savings, and you can make that direction now; and, secondly, I submit that you should ensure that the costs, the legal costs, of those who are entitled to legal costs, which is not Kitchener, should be paid by Union's shareholders and not by Union.

Those are my submissions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Board counsel have any submissions?

MS. COCHRANE:  No submissions for Board Staff.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Penny, any reply?
Further Submissions by Mr. Penny:

MR. PENNY:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Well, I will just deal with the seven items, I guess, because that is really the submission.

As I hear my friends, they say the application should be approved, subject to seven conditions.  I didn't really hear Mr. Ryder adding any -- he added some substance, but not a new condition, I didn't think.  So let me just deal with the conditions, then.

Number 1 was to require Union to enter into new undertakings -- sorry, not Union, but the limited partnership and the general partner, which, as I said, actually can only act through the general partner, but to require them to enter into the undertakings.

My submissions on that is that that is not a matter that actually falls within the jurisdiction of the Board, and it would be an odd condition to place.

The undertakings are between the Lieutenant Governor in Council - that is, the government - and Union and Westcoast.

The government, when you go back to the history of these things, it was the government that wanted these.  It's not an agreement with the Ontario Energy Board.  So what you are being asked is to place, as a condition on the approval of this application, that Westcoast -- well, I guess it is Westcoast, cause the new entity, the limited partnership, to enter into an agreement with the third party.  What if the third party says, We don't want to enter into that agreement?

So you are placing a condition that they can't necessarily fulfil.

So it just seems odd to me that you are being asked to make this a condition.  As we have said many times over, if the government asks us to do that, we will.  We don't actually think it is necessary, but it does seem an odd proposition, to me, to suggest that the Energy Board order this, because it is ordering something that it can't -- that the company, by itself, can't do.  It requires the consent of the government.

The second -– oh, and I did want to make a comment on Mr. -- I think this was just part -- in support of Mr. Shepherd's argument, that the adding of the limited partnership to the undertakings be a condition, but let me respond to a point.  It had to do with whether the Companies Act of Nova Scotia confers jurisdiction on the Energy Board over Union Gas.  Obviously that is not the case.  Nova Scotia has nothing to do with your jurisdiction over Union Gas.

Union Gas is, regardless of whether it is a British Columbia company, a UK company, a US company or a Mexican company, for that matter, is a gas transmitter, gas distributor or storage company and it is selling or charging for those services in Ontario.  That is section 36.  That's what gives you your jurisdiction.

So there is nothing in this suggestion that somehow the Nova Scotia Companies Act is not protecting the ratepayers of Ontario.  That's your job, and that isn't changed one iota by the fact that they have a registered office in Nova Scotia.

The second condition was that, as I understood it, until the signing of the new undertakings takes place, that the limited partnership deem -- be deemed to be an affiliate under the Affiliate Relationships Code.

We have taken the position that, of course, the limited partnership is bound by virtue of its ownership by Westcoast, is bound, in effect, by the current undertakings.

Actually, let me just pause on that for a moment to explain to you why we say that is so, whether they signed or not.

And that is because when you look at the relevant provisions, the affiliates -- they only come up in certain provisions, but let's take the maintenance of common equity provision.  That's where the affiliates are mentioned.  It says that if the level falls below the determined:

"...the level the Board has determined, Union shall raise or Westcoast and its affiliates shall provide."

Now, Westcoast is a -- under the scenario we're proposing, general partner is 100 percent owned by Westcoast.  Westcoast is obviously in a position to cause that affiliate to do something, because it owns the affiliate 100 percent.  It doesn't need to worry about minority shareholders or anything.

So when this says "Westcoast and its affiliates shall provide," that means Westcoast and its affiliates, and Westcoast is certainly bound by that.  The fact that a general partner hasn't signed this document, it seems to me, does not take away from the fact that Westcoast and its affiliates are to provide this.

So, again, it seems to me unnecessary to require that.

Having said that, we, of course, have taken the position that the affiliate is caught by the rules.  And so we accept that the general partner -- which is an affiliate, and the general partner is the entity by which the limited partnership acts, that's the only way a limited partnership can act -- that they would, therefore, be subject to the Affiliate Relationships Code because the general partner is the way that the limited partnership acts.  So although the limited partnership is technically, perhaps, not an affiliate under the OBCA definition, the general partner surely is, and the limited partner can't do anything without the general partner.

So having said that -- well, let me put it this way.  Because that is the case, we don't have any problem with the suggestion that there -- but it's not because we say they're deemed to be an affiliate.  It's because they are, because the general partner is an affiliate.

I didn't get my note entirely clear on the third one.  It had to do with this massive outsourcing that Enbridge engaged in shortly after its first incentive regulation plan many years ago.

My recollection of that, of the outcome of that case was that was something that was obviously -- that was clearly in the works before Enbridge entered into this incentive regulation plan, and even in that circumstance, the Board did not require the disgorgement of those benefits.  My recollection of the outcome of that case was that the Board accepted that there is lots of things that might be coming down the pipe when you are going into an incentive regulation plan.  The mere fact that you thought of some idea didn't require you to have disclosed that and disgorged the benefit.

So -- and as you have heard from the witnesses today, in any event -- there's no -- you have heard under oath the testimony that there's no contemplation of that taking place.  So that is, in my submission, a solution in search of a problem.

So I disagree that that should, in any way, shape or form, be a condition.  It is vague, uncertain and dealing with a highly speculative eventuality, of which there is absolutely no indication in the evidence.

Most of the time was spent on this $1.3 million, and the fundamental proposition is that it was appropriate for Union to have told the Board and intervenors in 2007, while the -- as we were working up -- as they were working up towards the incentive regulation plan, that this was a possibility, or Mr. Ryder wants you to think it was a certainty.  That, of course, I have alluded to that already.

What's the evidence on this point?  The evidence on this point is that, yes, there was a Spectra memorandum prepared in August of 2007.  The evidence is that in October, Mr. Hebert, in his capacity as the tax -- Canadian tax person, was advised that Spectra would in all likelihood want to proceed with that, but there is no evidence.  And indeed I believe the evidence is to the -- there is no evidence as to when that might have happened at that stage.

Again, alluding back to this Enbridge case, it can't be the case, Mr. Chairman, that every idea that comes along that might be in the gleam of somebody at Union's eye before they finalize their settlement in incentive regulation, that might generate a benefit for Union has to be disclosed.  It just can't be the case.  That would be undermining the very purpose of incentive regulation, because you would say -- you would be saying, in effect:   Before you actually get into any of this stuff, everything you have thought of, you actually have to give us now.  

And then where is the incentive, under that scenario?

I do agree that had this been a done deal, something that everyone knew was going to happen on the date that it happened, perhaps there would be an argument that it should have been disclosed, but that is clearly not the evidence.

The evidence is that this was an idea.  It was a possibility.  And only in September of 2008 did it crystallize into the actual -- an actual implementation and direction to carry forward. 

So in my submission, it is inappropriate to make an order that that $1.3 million be disgorged.

Mr. Thompson's suggestion that:  Well, no it's got really nothing to do with disclosure; it has to do with the fact that it arises from this application, well, that's -- with great respect -- nonsense.

The only grounds upon which Union could properly be required to disgorge this million dollars would be,  A, if it were proved there was wilful misconduct and non-disclosure in advance of the incentive regulation plan, which none of my friends, even the most vociferous of them, claimed was the case.  Or, they meet the test for the requirements of a Z-factor under the plan.  


And those are the only two bases on which, in my submission, you can properly say that Union should cough up that benefit.  And the evidence is clear, and clearly does not support the fact that this meets, in fact, any of the requirements, as I recall them, of the Z-factor.  It certainly doesn't meet the materiality requirement, and it doesn't meet the requirement that it be something that happens outside of management's control.

This is -- this whole process has now been authorized by Union's board of directors.  It is entirely within management's control.

Mr. Ryder's commentary on this point was telling.  He says most probably that it would fall within the incentive regulation term.  Well, there is absolutely no evidence of that, with great respect.

Let me move, then, to, I believe, the fifth point.  We actually take no issue with that.  We have said, the witnesses, that that has to do with the recovery of costs of the reorganization, that they be backed out of the utility accounts.  You have heard from the witnesses that is what's going to happen, and if the Board sees fit to impose that as a condition of the approval, we entirely accept that, because that's an undertaking that, in effect, we have already given to the Board and to the parties.


Number 6 was that the company will maintain the common equity ratio.  Well, with great respect, that's already in the undertakings.  There's no -- that adds nothing to the existing regulatory framework and, in my respectful submission, is entirely unnecessary, because it is superfluous.


Then number 7, you, Mr. Chairman, yourself wondered about what that means:  No operational changes to protect against the fact that the shareholder might now be exposed to more liability as a result of being a Nova Scotia unlimited liability company.  I don't even know what that means.


The evidence -- and it's entirely speculative.  The evidence is that -- from Mr. Packer is that there is no plan to do that.  And when you think about it, there isn't really any reason to do it.  It is an entirely speculative exercise.


Mr. Hebert's evidence is that's one of the reasons for the limited partnership, is to insulate Westcoast against the unlimited liability nature of Union under this new arrangement.


So there is no evidence that this is an issue.  There is no evidence that it will be an issue.  It's pure speculation.  And, in any event, it's cast at such a broad level that it is entirely unworkable, which is an issue that I think you, Mr. Chairman, have already -- have already expressed some concern about.


I have already addressed Mr. Thompson's additional submission on the $1.3 million.  And I have already, I think, addressed Mr. Ryder's suggestion -- Mr. Ryder 's submission on this issue.


So I think that is all I have to say.  Thank you.  


Sorry, if I could have your indulgence?


Yes, thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Help me with a couple of points.  The first is we had subsequently a case, a hearing, on that tax issue, Dr. Wilson and his colleagues and so on, which followed the settlement in the main --


MR. PENNY:  Yes, that was in --


MR. KAISER:  -- IRM action.


MR. PENNY:  If I remember correctly, that was the very end of March and the beginning of April in 2008.


MR. KAISER:  Right.  Do you know if any decisions, with respect to this matter, had been made at that time?


MR. PENNY:  The answer to that is no.  Again, you heard evidence on this.


What had happened, I think Mr. Hebert said, in October of 2007 it was identified as one of the options out there that would some day be pursued, and it was not until this past summer, June, July of 2008, that it was identified as -- brought to the top of the heap, if you will, because you remember Mr. Hebert talked about the competing priorities of these different activities and different tax structuring options they had.


MR. KAISER:  I just wondered, because we spent a lot of time dealing with taxes in that time frame --


MR. PENNY:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  -- whether you were aware of any --


MR. PENNY:  I was not aware.


MR. KAISER:  -- discussion on this issue as part of that case?


MR. PENNY:  I was not aware, sir.  I think Mr. Packer has indicated he was not aware.


MR. KAISER:  I don't remember whether Mr. Packer was part of that case or not.


MR. PENNY:  Yes, he was.


MR. KAISER:  The other question, Mr. Penny, is this.  You said that as far as you are concerned, the general partner and possibly the limited partner, are affiliates for the purpose of the undertakings.


Just to put that matter to rest and avoid the sort of procedural wrangle you have talked about, do you have any problem with sending a letter to the secretary confirming that?


MR. PENNY:  No.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. PENNY:  Sorry, to the Board secretary, you mean?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  No, we have no problem with that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, can I comment on that?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, I know I'm out of turn and I apologize.  The undertakings actually define affiliate.


MR. KAISER:  No, I understand that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's a corporation.  So I don't think a statement by Union Gas that they will treat it as an affiliate changes the legal effect of the undertaking.


MR. PENNY:  Just so we're clear, I had understood - maybe I jumped to the conclusion - that the letter would be from Westcoast, not from Union Gas, because it's Westcoast's -- or it could be from both, I suppose.


MR. KAISER:  As long as it is from one of the existing signatories.


MR. PENNY:  Yes, yes.


MR. KAISER:  Just so we have it.


MR. PENNY:  We could easily make it from both, although I think Westcoast is the relevant party, because it is the one that will own the limited partnership.  Union is, in turn, owned by the limited partnership.


MR. KAISER:  Anything further?  No?


MS. COCHRANE:  No, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  I know you are in a hurry to get this decision.  I sort of hoped to do it from the bench, but it is a little more complicated than I thought, but I will make sure you have a decision within a week, if that is satisfactory.


MR. PENNY:  Yes, it is.  Thank you very much, sir.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you, gentlemen.

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 12:58 p.m.
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